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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Kenya Post Office Savings Bank consists of a team of experienced and qualified professionals who
provide leadership in matters relating to decision making in the Bank. The Board is appointed by the
Minister of Finance and is made up of the Chairman, four Directors and the Managing Director. The Board
provides guidance and direction to the Management. Directors are given appropriate and timely
information so that they can maintain full and effective control over strategic, financial, operational and

compliance requirements. The day-to-day running of Postbank has been delegated to the Managing
Director. The Board retains responsibility for establishing and maintaining the intemal controls over the

strategic, financial, operational and compliance issues. The Board is responsible for ensuring succession,

planning and recruitment of the CEO. The current Board is made up of the following;

Hon. Fred Kapondi

Hon. Fred Kapondi Chesebe holds a Bachelor of Arts degree (Hons) from the University of Nairobi. Prior

to his appointment as Postbank Chairman, he served as the Member of Parliament for Mt. Elgon

Constituency between 2008 and 2012.He has vast experience serving in various Parliamentary Committees

and was the Chairman of the Parliamentary Committee on Administration and National Security between

2008 and 2012. Hon. Kapondi also served as a Member of the Parliamentary Committee on Budget 2008-

2012;Member of Parliamentary Committee on Equal Opportunities 2010-2012; Member of Parliamentary

House Privileges Committee and also Member, Liaison Committee. Hon. Kapondi is trained in Corporate

Governance and has attended many local & International conferences. He was appointed as Chairman of
Kenya Post Office Savings Bank on 1Oth January 2014. Hon. Kapondi retired as the Chairman of Postbank

on 3lst January 2017 .

Mr. Henry K Rotich. Cabinet Secretary, The National Treasury, EG.H.

Mr. Henry K. Rotich is the Cabinet Secretary for NationalTreasury. Prior to his appointment, he was the

Head of Macroeconomics at the Treasury, Ministry of Finance for 7 years. Prior to joining the Ministry of
Finance, Mr. Rotich worked at the Central Bank of Kenya for 72 years. He was attached to the

lnternational Monetary Fund (lMF) local office in Nairobi as an economist between200L-2004.

He has been a Director of several Boards of State Corporations including; lnsurance Regulatory Board,

lndustrial Development Bank, Communication Commission of Kenya and Kenya National Bureau of
Statistics. Mr. Rotich holds a Master's Degree in Public Administration (MPA) from the Harvard Kennedy



School, Harvard University. He also holds MA and BA degrees in Economics (University of Nairobi)

Board of Directors (continued)

r. Nzomo Mutuku Alternate to Cabinet Secretaryo The National Treasury

Mr. Nzomo Mutuku is since June 2013 the Senior Advisor, Financial Sector, at The NationalTreasury of
Kenya where he advises on policy matters relating to Pensions, lnsurance, Capital Markets, Banking and

other financial services. Previously, he was the Chief Manager Research & Development at the Retirement
Benefits Authority in Kenya. He worked at the Authority for over l2 years having previously worked in
the Research Department of the Central Bank of Kenya. Mr. Mutuku holds a Masters of Arts degree in
Economics as well as a first class honours Bachelor of Arts (Economics) degree from the University of
Nairobi. He has also undertaken training in pensions and financial markets in various countries including
the UK and Canada and at the Harvard University and Wharton Business School in the United States. He
has authored a number of papers on financial sector issues including "The Case for Consolidated Financial
Sector Supervision in Kenya and the impact ofthe Global Financial Crisis on the Pensions Sector in Kenya"
which are widely quoted in the region. He was a member of the High LevelTask Force that negotiated
the East Africa Community Monetary Union Protocol. Mr. Nzomo retired as a board member of the Bank
on 30th May 2017.

Jane Moronge Marwa

Ms. Jane Moronge Marwa holds a Post Graduate Masters of Education specializing in education and a
Bachelor's Degree in Education both from the University of Nairobi. She has been a teacher for over 20
years serving in different schools before becoming a Director of Kuria Women of Valor Organization
where she spearheads the recruitment and orientation of new members as well as assist in management of
resources. She is the founder and Director of Elite Junior Academy in Isebania - Kuria. Ms. Moronge has

been instrumental in the formation and development of Radio Lessons in Kenya Institute of Education and
has empowered the Girl Child and vulnerable children in Kuria District. Ms. Moronge was an MP
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candidate for 2013 general elections. She is currently studying for PhD in Education Foundation at the

University of Nairobi. Jane retired as board member of Postbank in May 201 7.

Board of Directors (continued)

Urbanus Kioko

Dr. Kioko holds a Doctorate Degree in Economics of the University of Nairobi (2008), Mphil (Health

Economics) of the University of Cape Town (2000), MA (Econ) of the University of Nairobi (1994) and

Bed (Business and Economics) ofthe University ofNairobi (1992). He is currently a steering committee

member of the out-put-based approach (OBA) programme in the Ministry of Health, a coordinator for the

MSc in Health Economics and Policy, member of the College Health and Safety Committee, Chair, Health

Economics committee, School of Economics, University of Nairobi.

Mr. Lawrence Tanui
Mr. Lawrence Tanui has over l5 years' experience in business, insurance and accountancy. He is currently
studying PhD in Business Management at Moi University, Mr. Tanui Holds an MBA in Strategic
Management (UON), Bcom (Accounting) and he is a Certified Public Accountant (CPAK). He has

developed his career in Finance and Accounts and is currently the Finance Manager at Africa Merchant
Assurance Company Ltd (AMACO LTD).

Ms. Anne Waiyego Karanja
Anne has a Masters degree in Business Administration specializing in Strategic Management and a



Bachelor's degree in Economics and Sociology. She has vast experience in banking, auditing and finance.
Prior to joining Kenya Post Office Savings Bank, Anne was an Auditor with the Controller and Auditor
General. She has previously headed several departments in the bank including Finance & Accounts,
Administration and Money Transfer Services. Anne has proven leadership, project and business
management skills and has a passion for service excellence. She has also steered several business projects
with remarkable success.

Board of Directors (continued)

Head of Legal, Security& Investigations/Company Secretary-
Mr Hannington Ouko
Mr. Hannington O. Ouko is the Head of Legal, Security & Investigations/Company Secretary-He has

unrivalled experience in Banking & Finance. Mr. Ouko acquired extensive conventional commercial
banking experience in Key departments such as - Operations, Customer Service and Credit Departments
and in the legal practice having acquired over l4 years'experience in Commercial Law, Conveyancing
Law, Banking Law Legal Advisory Services in Commercial Banks in Kenya and In East Africa including:
Diamond Trust Bank of Kenya Limited, Kenya Post Office Savings Bank, Chase Bank of Kenya Limited,
Equity Bank Kenya Ltd,, Equity Bank South Sudan Limited and Co-operative Bank of South Sudan
Limited.
Mr. Ouko holds a Master of Laws and Bachelor of Laws from the University ofNairobi. He has also earned

reputable certifications key among them Certified AML Specialist by INTERFIMA (2016), Certified AML
Specialist by INTELLISYS (2016) and Certified Systems Auditor by BEREA VERITAS.



Ms. Anne Waiyego Karanja
Managing Director

Jacinta Kasingiu
Head Special Projects
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Head Human Resource, Special Projects



CORPORATE INFORMATION

Kenya Post Office Savings Bank (Postbank) is established under an Act of Parliament CAP

4938 of the laws of Kenya, and is domiciled in Kenya. The address of the registered office of
the Bank is:

Postbank House

16ft Banda Street

P. O. Box 3031 1 00100,

Email: md@postbank.co.ke

Website: www.postbank.co.ke

NAIROBI-KENYA

Postbank is primarily engaged in the mobilization of savings for national development and

operates under the Kenya Post Office Savings Bank Act Cap 493B. In addition, the Bank offers

other financial services such as remittance, collections and disbursement services.

Principal Banks

Kenya Commercial Bank Ltd
Kencom House - 6tr Floor
P.O Box 48400 - 00100
Tel: +254-020-3270000
NAIROBI

National Bank of Kenya Ltd
Harambee Avenue branch
P.O Box 72866-00200
Tel: +254-020-2828000
NAIROBI

Citibank, N.A.
P.O Box 30711-00100
Upper Hill Road
NAIROBI

Independent Auditor

Auditor- General

Office of Auditor General

Anniversary Towers, University Way

P.O.Box 30084-00100

NAIROBI
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CORPORATE INFORMATION [Continued]

Principal Legal Advisers

Kale Maina & Bundotich Advocates

Teleposta Towers, 13ff Floor, Kenyatta Avenue

P.O Box 10674-00100

NAIROBI

Kimaru Kiplagat Advocates

National Bank Building, lst Floor, Uganda Road

P.O Box 5025-30100

ELDORET

Cherono & Co. Advocates

HazinaTowers, 86 Floor, Monrovia Street

P.O. BOX 4007-00100

NAIROBI

Kantai & Co. Advocates

Bruce House, 10fr Floor, Standard Street

P.O. BOX 34247

NAIROBI

Macharia-Mwangi & Njeru Advocates

ACK Garden Annex, 6ft Floor, lstNgong Avenue

P.O. BOX 10627-00100

NAIROBI
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

I am pleased to present the Annual Report and Financial Statements of Kenya Post Office
Savings Bank (Postbank) for the year ended 3lst December 2017.

REVIEW OF ECONOMIC PBRFORMANCE

Global and Regional Economy

The global economy is estimated to have expanded by 2.9 per cent in 2016 with growth in
advanced economies expanding by 2.1per cent in 2016 compared to 1.9 per cent in 2015.

Globally, there is a pickup in manufacturing and trade, rising market confidence and

stabilization of commodity prices, allowing growth to resume in commodity-exporting
emerging market and developing economies.

In the year 2016, real GDP in the East Africa Community (EAC) is estimated to have

grown by 6.1, per cent compared to 5.8 per cent growth in 201.5. The growth was fueled

by public infrastructure investment, buoyant private consumption and low oil prices.

Growth in Sub-Saharan Africa is recovering, supported by modestly rising commodity prices

strengthening external demand, and the end of drought in a number of countries. Security

threats have subsided in several countries.

Growth in Sub-Saharan Africa is forecastto pick up to 2.6 percent in2017 and to 3.2 percent

in 201 8, predicated on moderately rising commodity prices and reforms to tackle

macroeconom ic imbalances.

Kenyan Economy

Kenya's economic growth is estimated to have decelerated to 4.4 per cent in the third quarter

of 2017 compared to 5.6 per cent in a similar period of 2016. During quarterthree 2017, the

macroeconomic fundamentals remained largely stable and supportive of growth. However,

uncertainty associated with political environment coupled with effects of adverse weather

conditions slowed down the performance of the economy. As a result, most sectors of the

economy posted slower growths compared to the same quafter of 2016.

The African Development Bank (ADB) projects a positive outlook in 2018 and projects a

growth of 6.5 percent in 2018. TheNational Treasury projects similargrowth rates of over6
per cent in 20 I 8.

Inflation

Kenya's inflation slowed down to 4.5o/o in December 2017- Consumer prices in.Kenya
increased 4.5 percent year-on-year in December of 2017, easing l'rom a 4.7 percent rise in the

previous month. It rvas the lowest inflation rate since May 20 13, as prices rvent up softer mainly

fbr food and housing and utilities.

The Exchange rate
The Kenyan Shilling remained largely stable in the year with the exception of the period around

the presidential poll re-run date of 26s October and the period immediately after due to political



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (continued).

jitters. To its credit, the Central Bank has always stepped in to calm markets and maintain

stability through

direct intervention by selling off dollars from its reserves. Improved diaspora remittances and

tourism

receipts have contributed to the cushioning of the central Bank's reserves and its ability to

intervene

in the exchange rate.

Interest rates

Yields on benchmark Government Treasury Bills were stable during the quarter. The rates

oscillated between 7 .89% and 8.56%o for the 9l -day Treasury Bill, I 0.467% and 10.568% for

the 182-day

Treasury Bill and 10.599% to I1.053% forthe 364-day Treasury Bill. Stability in the interest

rate regime reduces uncertainty in decision making and ultimately reduces the premium when

pricing risk.

Year 2017 Results

During the year 2017, Postbank's net operating income reduced by 9.39% from Kshs.

798,464,083 in 2016 to Kshs.723,482,201 in 2017. On customers'deposit, the Bank achieved

Kshs.l8.90l billion against a target of Ksh.19.840 billion which translates to 95.26%o

achievement. The Bank's deposit mobilisation efforts are negatively affected by lack of credit.

Corporate Governance
The Board continued to play its role within the tenets of good governance principles. However,

for the big part of the year 2017, the Board was not fully constituted, hence posing a big

challenge especially in business policy formulation and corporate oversight. As a matter of fact

the advisory committees namely: Audit and Risk, and Human Resources only met once

whereas Strategy and Development committee did not meet.

Outlook for 2018

According to the World Bank, near-term GDP grou'th is expected to decelerate to 5.50lo in2017

because of drought. rveak credit growtlr, security concenls. attd a rise in oil prices. Mediurn-

term GDP grorvth should rebound to 5.8% in 2018 and 6.lo/oin2019 respectively. depending

on the cornpletion of ongoing intiastructure.projects. the resolution-of slou' credit grorvth, and

the strengthening of the globaleconolny and tourism.

In the long-term, the adoption of prudent macroeconomic policies will help safeguard Kenya's

robust economic perfbn'nance. T'his includes the implernentation of fiscal and monetaty

prudence and loweringthe deficit down to4.3o/o by FYl9l20, as perthe Medium'l'errn Fiscal

Framework. Fiscal consolidation needs to avoid compromising public investment in critical

infrastructure key to unlockitrg the economy's productive capacity.



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (continued).
Interest Rates -

Stability in the interest rate regime was the theme in the year 2017. Yields on benchmark

Government Treasury Bills oscillated between 8.00% to 8.8% for the 9l day Treasury Bill,
1 0.3 l% to I 0.5 8% for the 1 82 day Treasury Bil I and I 0.7 % to I I . I 3o/o for the 3 64 day Treasury

Bill. The Central Bank has succeeded in maintaining a low and stable interest rates regime

partly aided by the interest rates cap which has seen Commercial Banks take up Government

Securities instead of private sector lending. Stability in the interest rate regime reduces

uncertainty in decision making and ultimately reduces the premium when pricing risk.

Inflation
Inflation is expected to come under pressure in the year with the possibility of breaching the

upper limit target of 7.5o/o. The failed short rains have led to a drought and this is expected to

adversely affect

food production leading to a spike in the price of food, which is a major component in

determining the levelof inflation. Additionally, energy prices have trended upwards in the last

month of 2016 and January 2017 and this is expected to further put inflationary pressures in

the economy.

Exchange Rate
The global strengthening of the dollar is expected to put pressure on the local currency as

investors exit the Kenyan market wary of booking exchange losses on their investments. The

drought in the country is expected to adversely impact agricultural production of key exports

such as tea reducing the expected dollar receipts on the sale of the crop. Less dollar receipts

from tea will further put a strain on the local exchange rate. The Bank will continue to carefully
scan the business environment and align its strategies accordingly to take advantage of
emerging opportunities as well as address risks that may impact on its business model.

Strategic Planning

In the year 2017, the Bank continued the implementation of its five (5) year strategic Plan -
2016-2020. A midterm review of its Action Plan 2017 was carried out in 2017 and also the

developmentof the Action Plan 2018 was underlaken. This formed the basis of performance

contracting with the Government of Kenya for the year 2018.

Strategic Partnerships

The Bank continues to maintain strategic partnerships with key organizations which allows for
Postbank to network, gain knowledge and share experiences with other memhers within the

partnerships. These are:

I . Association of Savings Bank of East Africa (ASBEA)

2. World Savings Banks Institute (WSBI)

3. Association of Micro- Finance Institutions (AMFI)

4. Kenya Bankers Association (KBA)



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (continued).

Association of Savings Bank of East Africa (ASBEA) 15th Annuat Meeting

The Bank hosted the ASBEA Annual meetings in Nairobi from the 29h to 30tr November 2017 .

The theme of the meetings and the conference was "Transforming Swings Bank Customer

Experience through Digilal Innovation" and participants' members were from the three

Savings Banks in East Africa and invited guests and presenters. The conference was a success.

During the Conference, various presentations that have an impact on the bank's operations

were discussed. These included: Rethinking the Future of Banking Amid Digital Disruptions;
The Effect of Cyber Security, Challenges ond Mitigation Strategies in the Banking Sector; The

Impact of Interest Capping Law in Kenya, Challenges and Responses by Financial Institutions;

Effective Leadership in Digital disruption; Engaging Human Capital In Change Management:

A TPB Bank Case Study and Customer Centricity: The last mile in the Financial Inclusion
journey.

During the 6th Board of Trustees and the 15th Annual General Meetings, a number of items
were
transacted. These included consideration of the next steps in the ICT Convergence project
for the
member banks, joint training programmes for the member banks in the year 2018, offering of
Consultancy and Training services as a way of generating income; strategic plan for the year

2018 and approval ofthe financial budget for the year 2018.

Overall the meetings especially the Conference provided more insights on how the banks

should respond to emerging environmental and operational issues.

Appreciation
I would like to convey my sincere appreciation to the Government, our esteemed customers

and business partners for their continued support. I also wish to thank the management and

staff for their dedication to service.

MR. LAWRENCE TANUI.........
DIRECTOR
29TH MARCH 2018



MANAGING DIRECTOR'S STATEMENT

I wish to present the Bank's Annual Report and the Financial Statements for the year ended

3 I st December 2017 .

Financial Performance
Postbank's financial performance (profit / loss) for the period ended 3 1't December.2017 was
a loss of Kshs.l.364 billion recording a negative growth of 5.98%o from 2016 figure of
Kshs.l .287 billion.

Total assets decreased by 2.68% to stand at Kshs 13.361 from Kshs. 13.738 billion in the
financial year 201 6, mainly due to decrease in assets and reserves. Customer deposits increased
to stand at Kshs 18.901 billion in the financialyear from Kshs 17.945 in year 2016 which is a
5.33% positive change.

The decline in performance was occasroned by:

Lack of credit which has resulted to accounts falling into dormancy. A number of accounts

were closed in the year due to lack of activity for over seven years and the accounts had

zero balance.

a

a Reduced revenues due to reduced active accounts.

o Reduces investment due to declining deposits.

Affiliations
During the Year 2017,the Bank maintained its affiliations with various organisations including
but not limited to the World Savings and Retail Banking Institute (WSBI), Association of
Savings of Banks of East Africa (ASBEA) and the Association of Micro Finance Institutions

(AMFI) Kenya; Kenya Bankers Association (KBA) and The Kenya Banking Institute (KBI).

The Bank continued to participate in meetings, seminars and other activities geared towards

business growth. Specifically, the WSBI supported the Bank in the following activities;
o Customer centricity training
o Research on causes of dormancy of accounts with youth accounts

o Strategies to handle dormancy

o Global Money Week
o Development of the Mchama platform for group savings

o Research on enhancing the potential of the Postbank Mashinani agency

For ASBEA, the Bank participated in the Annual General Meetings in which the ASBEA

Strategic Plan 2016-2020 was discussbd and the the 2018 Action plan developed.'AMFI
provided capacity training opportunities for the Bank while KBA sensitised the Bank on the

various advocacy assignments that the institution is undertaking.

In December 2017, the Bank negotiated its annual performance contract with the Government

of Kenya for the financial year20l8. The contract was then cascaded to all levels within the

Bank. Quarterly performance monitoring and evaluation was carried out.



MANAGING DIRECTOR'S STATEMENT (continued).

Performance contracting

Towards the end of the year 2017, the Bank started is performance contracting process with
the Government of Kenya for the year 2018. The contract was negotiated with the National
Treasury and vetted early in the year 2018 by the Performance Management and Coordination

Office, under the Executive Office of The President.

Strategic Partnerships

The Bank continues to maintain strategic partnerships with key organizations which allow

Postbank to network, gain knowledge and share experiences with other members within the

partnerships. These are: World Savings and Retail Banks Institute (WSBI); Association of
Savings Bank of East Africa (ASBEA); Association of Micro- Finance Institutions (AMFI);
and the Kenya Bankers Association (KBA).

Business partnerships

During the year 2017, the Bank continued to enter into various business partnerships to grow

the Bank's business. In the year, the Bank entered into a partnership with the National Youth

Service (NYS) to carry out financial literacy and also facilitate stipend payments to the NYS
graduands who are posted to various parts in the country. We also partnered with additional

water companies during the course of the year.

\il. KARAI\UA
slli${"t'uir

29TI{ MARCH 2OI8



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THB YBAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBBR 2017

The Board of Directors have the pleasure to submit the annual report and audited financial
statements for the year ended 3lst December 2017 in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards, which discloses the state of affairs of the Bank.

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Bank during the year under review were primarily savings

education and financial literacy, collection of funds from private and public enterprises and

disbursement of funds for Government pensions and salaries in accordance with KPOSB ACT CAP
4938.

Results
The results for the year are as set out on pages 25 to 65

Directors
The Directors who served during the yearto the date of this report were: -

Name Title Appointment
Date

Retirement Date

Hon. Fred Chesebe
Kapondi

Chairman l0-01-2014 3 I't,January 201 7

Mr. Henry K Rotich,
EGH

CS, National Treasury May 2013 In Service

Mr. Nzomo Mutuku Alt. Representing CS

The National Treasury
24-09-2014 30th,May 2017

Dr. Urbanus Kioko Director l9-01-201 5 In service

Ms Jane Moronge Director 02-10-2015 May 2017
Mr. Lawrence Tanui Director 02-t0-2015 In Service

Ms Anne W. Karania Managing Director 01-07-2014 In service

The Auditor General is responsible for the statutory audit of Postbank in accordance with the
Article 229 of the Constitution of Kenya and Public Audit Act 2015 forthe period ended 3l't
December 201 7.

By order of the Board.

{w
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

Postbank is committed to the standards of corporate governance as set by the Government for
the public sector from time to time and the Central Bank of Kenya on specific services offered

by Postbank.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the long term strategic direction for profitable growth

of the Bank while being accountable to the shareholder by ensuring that Postbank complies

with the laws and the highest standards of corporate governance and business ethics.

The Directors attach great importance to the need to conduct the business and operations of
Postbank with integrity and in accordance with generally accepted corporate practice and

endorse the internationally developed principles of good corporate governance.

Board of Directors
The Board is made up of six (6) Directors of whom 5 are non-executive including the

Chairman. The term for the Chairman ended on lOth January 2017. One of the other Director

resigned in April 2017 and the Alternate Director was appointed to Head another Government

body in April 20l7.The Board was therefore not fully constituted for the rest of the year since

there were no replacements.

Directors are given appropriate and timely information so that they can maintain full and

effective control over strategic, financial, operational and compliance requirements. The day-

to-day running of Postbank has been delegated to the Managing Director. The Board retains

responsibility for establishing and maintaining the internal control over the strategic, financial,

operational and compliance issues. The Board is responsible of ensuring succession planning

and facilitates recruitment of the Managing Director.
Despite not having a fully constituted Board the Bank is complying with the Mwongozo "the

code of governance for state corporations" and all the Directors have undergone training on the

code organised by the State Corporation Advisory Committee (SCAC).

Board Meetings

The Board of Directors meet on quarterly basis or as required. The Board is responsible for
monitoring the implementation of Postbank's planned strategy and reviewing it in
conjunction with its financial performance. Specific reviews are also undertaken on

operational issues and future planning. At the end of each financial year, the Board

evaluates itself, the Managing Director and Senior Management Staff against targets that
have been agreed at the beginning of the year. Due to lack of a fully constituted Board, we
have had only one Board meetirlg in 2017.

Code of Ethics
Postbank is committed to the Public Officers Integrity and Ethics Act 2003, Leadership and

Integrity Act2012 and Kenya Anti-Corruption and Economic Crimes Act 2003.

Communication with Shareholder
Postbank is committed to ensuring that the shareholder and the Parliament are provided with
full and timely information about its performance. This is usually done through the distribution



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT IContinuedl
of the Bank's quarterly reports to the Inspectorate of State Corporations and Ministry of
Finance and specifically the Annual reports to the Clerk of the Parliament for distribution to

the Members of Parliament. Postbank

is in compliance with its obligations under the KPOSB Act, State Corporations Act and Central

Bank of Kenya guidelines relating to remittance services together with other Guidelines issued

by the Government.

Directors' Emoluments and Loans
The aggregate amount of emoluments paid to Directors for services rendered during the Year

2017 is disclosed in Note 22tothe Financial Statements. There were no loans given to sitting
Directors at any time during the year.

Board and Board Committees Attendance
The following table gives the record of Postbank's Board and Committee Meetings for the year

ended December 3lst 2017 .

BOARD ATTENDANCE REGISTER 20I7

C I}IRECTOR

Main Board
Meetins

I I 1 I

Special
Board
Meetinp

) I 2 2 2

Audit and
Risk Board
Committee

N/A I I N/A N/A

Staff Board
Committee

5 N/A 5 N/A J 5

IStrategy and
Development
Board
Committee

I N/A N/A I

N/A N/A N/A I N/AAd hoc Staff
Committee

I N/A

DIRECTOR .......29't'tt MARCH 2018



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial Performance
The financial performance (profit / loss) for the period ended 3lst December,2017 increased

to Kshs.l .364 billion loss recording a negative growth of 5.98Yo from 2016 figure of
Kshs. I .287 billion. Total assets decreased by 2.68% to stand at Kshs 13.361 billion from
Kshs. l3.T38billioninthefinancialyear20l6,mainlyduetodecreaseinassetsandreserves.
Customer deposits increased to stand at Kshs 18.901 billion in the financialyear from Kshs

l7 .945 in year 2016 which is a 5.33o/o positive change as given in trend analysis below.

TREND BALANCES 2008.2017

a Total AB*t3 r lnveslmentg r Custornerg' Deporits

o
2J
I
.D

2

3o-

30,000,m0,0m

25,000,m0,0m

20,000,m0,000

15,000,000,0m

10.000,000,000

5,00,000,000 ilil
2008 2009 2010 m11 mQ 2013 m14 m15 2016 ?s17

Compliance with Statutory Requirement

During the period under review, the Bank honoured all it statutory obligations by remitting all
required deductions within the statutory time line.

Strategic Plan 2016 -2020

In the year 2017, the Bank commenced on the implementation of the second year of its 5 year

stpategic Plan - 2016-20?0. During the year, thp Bank carried out a nlidterm review of its
Action Plan 2017 and also developed the Action Plan for the year 2018. This Strategic

Planning process was followed by a budgeting process for the year 2018. The Action Plan and

Budget 2018 together formed the basis of performance contracting with the Government of
Kenya for the year 2018.

Major Risk Facing Postbank

The major risk facing Postbank is lack of one stop shop banking solution for customers



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (continued)

Compared to the competition. The Bank is a Savings Bank and not a lender, thus the customers
find it easier to save where the Financial Institution can provide loans to assist them grow
business, buy key assets and payment of school fees among others. This has led to shrinking
of the customer deposit base, dormant accounts and as a result, led to depletion of the Bank's
capital base and losses.

The Board and the management have been in consultation with the Government through the
National Treasury with a view to injecting capital to defray the accumulated losses as provided
in the Kenya Post Office Savings Bank Act, cap 4938, section l3(i).

The management is also addressing areas of cost management and through staff rationalisation
and closing unprofitable branches. Five (5) branches were closed during the year under review.
Customers will still be served through the Mashinani Agency Network, Mobile Banking and

Internet Banking. Management is enhancing business Partnership's with the Government and

Private sector especially for disbursement of Government Social funds and stipend, salaries
and wages.

TheNational Treasury approved the sale of the Postbank Training School in MuthaigaNorth
in December 2016 to partly fund the staff restructuring. This will reduce the cost income ratio.
The sale process has commenced and we are hoping to conclude by end of June 2018 subject
to receiving a responsive bid.



2017 CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR) STATEMENT

INTRODUCTION

Postbank is committed to growing its business while ensuring that delivery of services is done

in an ethical and socially responsible manner. The Bank considers the interests of the

communities and strives to maintain the highest standards of ethical conduct and corporate
responsibility in service delivery.
Over the years, the Bank has embraced Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) in an effort to
give back to the community. The Bank acknowledges that CSR is fundamental to our culture

and core values. We encourage staff to conduct their affairs in a responsible manner as

espoused in the Bank's corporate values.

The key focus of the Bank's Corporate Social Responsibility are:
. Education
. Health
. Financial Literacy
. Environment

In 201 7, Postbank supported different causes aligned to our strategic direction and participated

in a range of community activities as detailed below.

EDUCATION

The Bank supports initiatives that promote conducive learning environment to students from
all spheres. The Bank strongly believes that education is an investment for the country's future.

Donation of Lecture Chairs to Kenya Medical Training College - Kilifi

Towards this end, the Bank donated lecture chairs to students of the Kenya Medical Training
College.

In its latest effort to participate in causes that impact the society positively, the Bank was quick

to respond to the schools" call for aid to add lecture chairs to accommodate the increasing

number of students.

Postbank Supports the Coin-Chain- for Education Activity

In the spirit of achieving our mandate of mobilizing savings for national development,

Postbank also sponsored "The JA Coin - Chain" that sought to raise funds for e-learning

toolkits to support entrepreneurship and financial skills training to 50 secondary schools.

During the Coin Chain for education activity, Postbank was recognized as the most creative

organization. The event provided a great team-building opportunity for staff, provided an

opportunity to showcase Postbank products as well as exposure to potential customers.

HEALTH

The bank through its CSR arm has continued to push its shared groMh agenda through

supporting various health initiatives in the country.

2017 Mater Heart Run and Zambezi Hospital Cancer Walk

Postbank employees participated in "Mater Heart Run 2077", a charity event, which was hosted

by the Mater Hospital in an effort to raise funds to assist children from families who cannot

afford cost of cardiac surgery. The Bank believes that a healthy nation is a wealthy nation.



CORPORATE SOCIAL RBSPONSIBILITY (CSR) STATEMENT [Continuedl

The Bank also partnered with Zambezi Hospital to increase awareness on cancer as it has been
identified as a silent killer in our communities especially because of low level of awareness,
late

diagnosis and lack of affordable facilities for cancer management. The event entailed a 5km
cancer walk dubbed "Relentless in our commilment tofight Cancer together" in fighting the
cancer endemic.

FINANCIAL LITERACY

Postbank believes that a higher level of financial literacy and savings education not only
enriches the life of the individual but also contributes to healthy economic growth in the
society. We believe that if Kenyans are empowered with financial knowledge, they are better
positioned to make sound financial decisions and consequently increase the national savings
rate.

During the year, the Bank leveraged on opportunities for promoting financial education. The
Bank has put financial inclusion high on its priority list and believes that access to finance is
vital for poverty alleviation and social harmony. The ability to save and invest is an important
component of poverty reduction and self-empowerment.

2017 Global Money Week

The annual celebration of the Global Money Week in March consists of a series of activities
held across the world by the partners and stakeholders of the Child and Youth Finance
Movement (CYFI). These activities are geared towards engaging children, youth and their
communities in learning about financial education and financial inclusion. For the fifth year in
a row, the Global Money Week, themed "Take Part, Save Smart!" was celebrated at Postbank
in coordination with the Central Bank of Kenya. 201 7 Global Money Week was marked from
ZThMarchto 4ft April.

Group Based Financial Literacy Programmes

The Bank also partnered with various organizations in pursuit of enhancing financial literacy.
Among these include Cap-Yei and formal savings groups. This is in an effort to boost financial
literacy levels to the unbanked and underserved Kenyans who may be unfamiliar with the
fundamentals of personal financial management. The Bank has undertaken initiatives through
grass root savings education to ensure that this knowledge is passed on to them through
participation in various events.

C DIITECTOR

DIRECTOR.........
29TH MARCH 2018



STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITIES

The State Corporations' Act requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each

financial year, which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Bank as at the end

of the financial year and of the operating results for that year. It also requires the Directors to

ensure that the entity keeps proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy

the financial position of the entity. The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the

assets of the entity.

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the entity's financial

statements, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the entity for and as at the

end of the financial ear (period) ended on 3 I st December 2017.

This responsibility includes: (i) maintaining adequate financial management arrangements and

ensuring that these continue to be effective throughout the reporting period; (ii) maintaining

proper accounting records, which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial

position of the entity; (iii) designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant

to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements, and ensuring that they are

free from material misstatements, whether due to error or fraud; (iv) safeguarding the assets of
the entity; (v) selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and (vi) making

accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

The Directors accept responsibility for the entity's financial statements, which have been

prepared using appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent

judgements and estimates, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards

(IFRS), and in the manner required by the PFM Act, 2012 and (the State Corporations Act).

The Directors are of the opinion that the Postbank's financial statements give a true and fair

view of the state of Postbank's transactions during the financial year ended December 3lst,
2017, and of the Bank's financial position as at that date. The Directors further confirm the

completeness of the accounting records maintained for the Bank, which have been relied upon

in the preparation of the Bank's financial statements as wellas the adequacy of the systems of
internal financial control.

Approval of the financial statements
The Bank's financial statements were discussed and approved by the Management during the

January monthly departmental meeting on 16ft January 2018 and signed on its behalf by:

DIRECTOR

DIRECTOR
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OFFICIi OT'tr'HE AUDITOR-GINIIRAL
REPORT OF THE AUDITOR.GENERAL ON KENYA POST OFFICE SAVINGS BANK
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 OECEMBER 2017

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Qualilied Oplnion

I have audited the acconrpanyrng financiat statement$ of Kenya Post Offrce Savings Bank
sel out on pages 25 lo 62, rvhich comprise the statement of frnancial posifion as at
31 December 2A17. stalement of profit or loss and other comprehensrve Incorne,
staternent of changes in equity. slatement of cash flows and statement of comparison of
budget and aclual anrounts for the year then ended. and a summary of significant
accounttng policres and othcr explanatory informatron rn accordance villh lhe provrsrons
of Article 229 ol the Constilutron of Kenya and Section 35 of the Public Audit Ac{. 2015.
I have obtained all lhe rnformatron and explanations vrhich, to the best of my knovrledge
and behef, were necessary for lhe purpose of the aud:t

ln my opinion. except for the effecls of the matters descnbed rn the Basrs for Qualified
Opinion section on my report, the frnancial slatements present fairly, in all material
respects the financialposrtron of Kenya Post Office Saving Bank as at 31 December ?017.
and of ils financialpedormance and its cash flows for lhe year lhen ended, rn accordance
with lnlemational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and cor'nply rvrlh the Kenya Post
Office Savings Bank Act,4938, Publrc Frnancial Managernent (PFM) Act,2012 of the
Laws of Kenya.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

1. Accounte Receivabls

The statement of finarrcial posltlon reflects accounts recervable amount of
Kshs2.723,077,613 (2016 Kshs.?.873.129,934) and as disclosed under Note 34 to the
financial$tatements. included rn this amount is Kshs.60,203,935 (20,l6 Kshs 50.618,767)
on account of rent receivable from let out office space. Of the arnount, Kshs.47,113,844
is oured by tenants who have since vacated the Bank's premises without lhe recourse as
provisioned for ln the lease agreernents berng exercised The fukelihood of the amount
being co$ecled is doubtful, adiustments necessary by way of provisions for the
uncertainty have not been incorporated in the financial $htements. ln the crrcumstances,
I am unab,l€ to con{irm the fair stalement of the accounts receivable.

Rtpwt o{ tk* .4udttor-(itn:rol ott lhc l'tn,ut<t,tl .\?irrr'nrr'zrtr r:! l'ort 6{1i11..\in'rnqr Errnl .lst rt,|.. t\.(r. {dJ('J
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2. lntorsgt Expenso

The statement of prolit or loss and other cornprehensive income reflects interest expense
amount ol Kshs 567,955,405 {2016Kshs.562,788.544) and disclosed under Note 15 :o
the financial statements. However, the inlerest expen$e ledger rn support reflects a
balance of Kshs 589.083,108 resulting in a variance of Kshs 21 ,127.703. Of the variance
amounl. management has nol been able to render explanalions for tlre variance of
Kshs.4,853,513. ln the circumslances. I am unable to confirm the accuracy of the
reported inlerest expenses amount

3. Encroached on Land without Titlo Dood

The statement of financial position indicates property and equipment balance of
Kshs.1 ,714.988.172 as of slaterne nl dale and disclosed u*der note 3S(b) to the frnancial
slatements. lncluded rn the balance, rs parcelof land valued at K$hs.s, 000,000located
in Dandora Phase ll allolted to the Bank in 1993. Management is yet to obtain tille deed
to lhe land parcel" ln addition, the land has not been fenced off. consequently it had bsen
encroached by squatlers as at the timo of finalizing this audil. ln lhe circumstances. lhe
Eank's ability to access the land as and when it needs is doubtful.

4. ilotor Vohlcle wlthout Log Book

Also included in lhe property and eguipment balance rs motor vehicles valued al
Kshs.29.123.656. lncluded in the motor vehiclo scheduh is a Mercedes Benz registration
number KAJ 078Y whose tog book has not been issued to the Bank by Kenya Revenure
Aulhority (KRA). This rs despite the Bank having paid the reqursrte duty to register lhe
vehicle in its own name in November 1997. ln lhe circumstances, the accwacy and fair
statement of property and equipmenl as of the statement date cannot be confirmed.

The audit was conducted rn accordance wdh lnlernational Standards of Supreme Audit
lnstitutions (lSSAls). I am independent of Post Office Savings Bank in accordance wilh
ISSAI 30 on Code of Ethics. I have fulfilbd olher ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the lSSAland in accordance with other ethical requirernents applicable to per{orming
audits of financial slalements in Kenya. I believe lhat the audit evidence I have obtained
rs suf{icient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinron.

Ittlaterial Uncortainty Relatad to Going Concern

I draw attention lo Note 1(e) tr) in the financial stalements. vrhich indicates lhat the Bank
rncurred a net loss of Kshs. Kshs.1,364.952,385 dunng the year ended 31 Oecember
2A17 (2016- 1,287.021,Sy9), resutting rnto a reported accumulated deficit of
Kshs.11,A20,457,8{8 (201& Kshs 9.599.351,397) and, as of that date, the Bank had a
shireholde/s equity deficit of Kshs.8,570,273.319 (2016- Kshs.2,i71.095.436). These
condrtions" along with other mattars as sel forth in Note 1(e) {r), rndicate that a material
unoertainty exists that may cast srgnificant doubt on tho Bank's ability to continue as I
going concern. My opin*on is not qualified in respecl of this rnatler.
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Kry Audlt Xrtbn

Kcy audlt metbrr are thoca rnettara thd in my prdc*bnd juclgtunant rme d moot
{niltcenoo in fio atdit of ttm financiel rteknonE d nE curr;nt lrwr. Thara uicre no
kay ardlt matEm to rqott in $re yaar unda reviotr.

Othrrt hr
Prfor Yrlr hruor

1.0 ffirlrfinrnt ol Ctnbnrr $evlryn rnd hoolb
The rtrUtgtt d ffnancbl posltbn erd rdo 38 to tha linandal ttaHtrsrtr r€f,ectu
anctfitor oavtnp md dryooitB of Kshs.18,901,1m.775 (2016 K!tr&17,0a4.68'{.853}. Au
tlporbd in ola ptwixla lrcars, the cuttsrrcrs *evingr and dcpocib thcn balanos of
l$k.17,S03,27$"455 di{forud uri0r ths 0016 bankkrg sllgtorn (CBS} behne ol
l0[tc"17,5t5"280,289 by Kchc.12,008,8{5 ac at 3l Decambor 2014, Thb dffiarancc hea
rartalnsd unexplained owr the yoarr: 20'15, 2016 and 2017,

2.4 GoX P.o.bn Rrocm Fund

Thc rtrbmmtof finarrcial pooitlon and note40 to$G fin.ndal strbrncnts krdicabc GoK
Pembn Rooeils Fund asld of t($e.74.3E1.e27 {2010 llabtrqr Kdts.183.S42,03t}. As
rcporttd h fi€ year 2018, fio Pension Rsmrve Furd fiabili$ bahno thon of
Kstu"lGhs.l8li,Bf2,031 wu made up d inecthru accountrB. acountr fior dcoatod cafroo.
Boda on hland (BOH) and ercper*e*l fiaud cesot cnor the yrarn wtrictr EhqrH hayu bocn
rqnlltcd bd( to thc Nrtonal Trurury upon confnnation. tlo ephnatima hfila bocn
tundaul on the aomunt nrornnnntr d K*r"25E,323,258 roauttiqg hto rn asr€t doslrry
b.hnas as at 31 Decembcr 2017.

3.0 lnbrut frpcnr
As cportot in 2014, intcrocl oxpons for tio yoar of Kslt.l-m8.132,043 exduded CBS
inkoot fron Money Martd of l&fu.656,20{.332 ard mrnml intarsst adfur,tnanm d
1(str3.31,E87.060.50lotallno to Xrhs 688,161,092. lrmaOomcnt eubcgncntyo$aincd
tho ditruanct cxccp{ for Krh4.3,137,350 whicfi b ou8lnnding to dsta. Comcquorily. thG
sccurrcy of &o comporatfuo ifierehoHofi oquttr/ crrfiulrthrc dcficil ot
1Gfis.7,171,095.438 ac rdcc&l in tha fnsn&l atatomanE ouH nd bc oonfirncd.

Reeort on Lrurfutn rr rnd Efircttw ln mr of Rtbllc Rrourue
Ar requirud by Arlids 229(6) d lho Corffidturn, beled on lhe audit procodulu
pcrfornd, cr@pt for &e m$er dercrbed h thc B&is fior L^erfulnccs and Eilrctivansts
in Urc d P$lic Roaowm racllol d rny rapryq I conftrn thal. nodrft1g has curr to my
ilantirn b caurs ma to bdi€ya t'rst prblic moncy hae nd b.rn applhd larfully and in
an effadve urry

Rryon $ 0* lte**(;rrcvl os tlx Fhw*#.$dt{r.r* d ?a Oftcs satitt3r 8r* {r tk y* aN
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B.rb fior Goncludon

Hbh Emiloyrc Cort

Corilroty lo tho prorbions of th6 Prrblh Finarm MmryBment Regubtlrns 201S- Urd
requiroc corpcrcation of orployuoc not b sxcood 3596 of re\roorro, frra B8nlts arnplorce
arpariceo emounbd b Kshc.t.t92,7n^,6* or 91% o, lhc tobl raurtuo of
K!h"1,313,700,114).

Roport on lnHnrl Conlnrb E lbc$trnce+ Gmmrnce end Rhlt knrgnmrnt
Syr$m

As regulrud !y Sffiiort 7(1) #the Public Audit Ad, e015 I confinn that. no&lng ha mma
to my etbnlbn b cauta me b bofiqn that intgrnal 6nt oB sleno ru opcrating in an
dfactiw wey.

RrpomlUllte. of f,rnrgrymrt rnd tltor Chrrypd wlth Gqrtrnrnst ftr &r
Flnrrchl Strbmentr

iiana$mcr{ b rwpomibb for lho prupqntion and falr procentation ol tlpm mandel
atetansrtr h amrdanoa wlth lnbm*nal Fine*dal Raporting Shndardl end fur guctr

inbmd wilrd s manqternoil doefln{rs b nffisery b enoblo tht prapanlion d
frtarx*el shhnrctrB that ale frse ftorn rnsurLl mbrbtotnant whdrer duo b frar.ld or
crof.
ln premrhg $6 linanclal etahnon&, mflreg&ill*rrt b rueponable fw mcccoirg tho
b.rddr abi$ty b onlirrus * a gdng ooFreixn. dbdwing. aa Spkabb. mstbr rehbd to
going conorm end tsing the gong @rlcom blrb cf aoounting unle Sn managnrnant
eitfier hbndr to Suidate fis beok or b co6o oporsUonE. or hang no rsa$Elh rlbrnslirrc
blltb & eo.

,rlanegeiltont b aho rsponaiUte lor fiw sr&rnblbn oil lhe fnancbl stetgmontr b the
Audibr4oncrd h acorlence with tho prwbno of Soctlon a7 d fle Pubfc Audil Act
201S.

T?roc6 crrf,r[pd wisr grorcrnensa arc rocponaibh lor oversseirry the bard<'t fnsnda,
ropctirq proc.!s,

Audtbr€rnrmfr Rnponrlbllltbr ior thr Audtt

Tho eudit oOloaruse ars to oHain rmnablc atsuranoo abost whotfier Sla fmerrrsl
rtabrncnB ar a utrob are fte6 frorn merbl mbsteilerpnt ufie&er dtr to freud or otror,
arrd !o hqp an aud&o/r rcporl that indda myodnion in acoordmm with tho proeiom
d Saction aE of ho P6lic Ardil Acf. ?015 and cubmlt fip audlt tcporl in oor@nm wfllr
Artcle ?Jffll of filo Com{ih$im of Hsnya. Rercnable a*sumns& ia n high lff,sl of
asrtsanoe, bl, E nd o guaranbe that an audlt conduchd h acprdance vuttt lSSAlrwill
ehmyr dcbcl e malarlel mbstrtcnril xfiGn n crdsB. MFrtrrbrncntr can erbo firorn ftsud
or sror and arc oonrid€rad mabrhl if" indfuldually or in OE ag[rggots, 0ry suH

fifFr, $ * leu*Oawd n tt* ftlrralsd.k;ar € P*t Ollifr s{rJry{, En, fu tir f<r cn*rd
ll Drrlr,brrNl?
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rossorub{y ba $pettsd to inlhrofloo the sconombdacisbns ol usars ukofi on Su baiii
of ftooo finencbl etabmonts.

As psrt of an audil kr accordenoe wilh lSSAls. I sxsrcbo proe*rionaljudgonunt and
maintahr profusslmal ckq$dsrn throqglu$ frc er/dil. I abo:

r ldorrt0 and megts lho risltt of msbrhl rniegtatamsrt d fia finambl dlEtypilttr,
uficthor duc to fratrd or crro(, thaign erd perfom au<lh prooeduur roeponriw b
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eofresclng an opinion on tha rfiocfhrmore o, fio bstk'B intornal confd,
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aemuntkrg estimoba snd relabd dSsdocurw ma& by Srs rnanagement.
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urcfiainty e$ats, I am rcguhad to drwr atlention in thc atdito/e report to thc rcbtcd
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my Srbo" My conduciortc am besod on lfir audit cvtlenm obhined rp to &c dale
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b cotrtknro as a going conotrn"
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. Obtsh rultdcnt approprlete audlt atidence rwardlng frtc finandel infonnation d [re
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3IST DECEMBER 2017

Notes

20t7

December

Kshs

673,949,630
-567,955,405

r05..994.225

433,288,043
-22,358,508

410.929.535

516,923.760

84,979,s63

121,s78,878

723,482,201

13,000,000

1,192,722,658

l,3 13,68s

411,07 6,442

94,601,599

t8,627,072
22,122,908

334,970,222

2.088.434.586

-1,364,952J85

0

-1,364,952J85

2016

December

Kshs

Interest Income -ln
Interest Expense

Net Interest Income

Fees and Commissions Income

Fees and Commissions Expense

Net Fees and Commissions Income

Net Trading Income

Foreign Exchange Income

Other Operating Income

t4
l5

672,598,189

-562,788,544

109.809.645

512,241,968
-20.005"767

492.236.201

602.045.846

76,675,558

119,742,679

798,464,083

2.085.486.062

-1,287,021,979

0

l6
t7

18

19

Net Operating Income

Impairment loss on loans and advances 20

Employee Expenses 2l
Board Expenses 22

Operating Expenses 23

Depreciation 36(b)

Amortization Intangible Assets 37

Amortization for Bonds Trading Cost 24

Other Expenses 25

Total Operating Costs

Profit/(Loss) before income tax

Income tax expense *

20,000,000

1,152,426,662

8,937,011

388,576,495
109,338,125

18,107,403

34,692,599

353,407,767

Profit/(Loss) for the Period 26 -1,287,021,979

*The Bank is exempted from paying corporate taxes as per the Income Tax Act Cap 470 First schedule
Part l.

Disclosure Note
Extra ordinary Income le (b) I tz,olo.qgt t0.975.743
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31ST DECEMBER 2017

Notes 2017

Kshs
626,307,465

35,579,852

4,773,042,050

896,790,225

12,993,081

4,124,001

2,723,077,613

2,434,472,113

74,381,227

2016

Kshs
571,762,339

33,608,1 17

4,848,850,219

896,790,225

16,798,864

3,692,401
2,873,129,934

2,621,365,249

0

1,787 ,523,677
84.772.604

ASSETS
Cash

Funds on Call and Short Notice

Investment in Treasury Bills and Bonds

Investment Property

Stocks

Other Investments

Accounts Receivables

Prepayments & Other Assets

GoK Pension Reserve Fund

Property and Equipment

Intangible Assets

Total Assets

LIABILITIES

Customer Savings and Deposits
Accounts Payables & Accruals
GoK Pension Reserve Fund
Total Liabilities

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Capital Grants
Revaluation Reserves
Change in Fair Value for Bonds AFS
Revenue Reserves

Total Shareholders' Equity

13,361,911J30 13,738,293,629

28

29

30(a)

31

32

JJ

34

35

40

36(b)

37

1,714,998,172

66.145.s3 I

38
39
40

I 8,901 ,102,77 5

3,031,081,874

0
21,932,184,649

17,944,664,853
2,780,782,184

183.942.031
20,909J89,068

41

ll
30(b)
t2

12,907,037
2,388,250,796

49,026,696
- r l .020.457.848
-8,570,273,319

12,907,037
2,388,250,796

27,098,028
-9.599.3s1.297
-7,171,095,436

Total Liabilities & Shareholders' Equity 13,361,911,330 13,738,293,,629

The Financial statements on pages 27 to 29 were approved by the Management on l6th January, 201 8

as a draft and signed on its behalf by:

DIRECTOR

DIRECTOR

29TH MARCH 2OT8
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Capital Grants Revaluation
Reserves

Change in
Fair value

Revenue Reserves TOTAT-s

Kshs Kshs Kshs Kshs Kshs
At ltt January 2016 30,510,479 2,388,250,796 -8,342,815.r 80 -s,923,993,905
Profit/(Loss) for the year -1287,021,979 -1,287,021,919

Additions during the year -AFS 27,099,029 27,099,029
Transfer ofgrant utilised during the
vear (Note i) -t7,663,442 -17,663,442

Prior year rdjustment (Note ii 9,889,533 9,8E9,533

Prior year adjustment (Note iii) -1,293,876 -1,293,876

Prior year adjustment (Note iv) I,086,209 r,086,209

Prior year adjustment (Note v) 20,803,996 20,803.996
At 3ltt December 2016 12.907.037 2.388.2s0.796 27.098.028 -9.599.351.297 -7.171.09s.436

At l" January 2017 t2,907,031 2,388,250,796 27,098,028 -9,599,3s1,297 -7,171,095,436

Profit/(Loss) for the year -l.364.952.385 -t,364,952,385

Additions during the year -AFS 2t,928,668 2t,928,668
Prior year adjustment (Note i -2,211,052 -2,21t,052

Prior year adjustment (Note ii t7,778,929 t7,778,929

Prior year adjustment (Note iii) 44,297,s62 44.297,562

Prior year edjustment (Note iv) 692,944 692,944

Prior year adjustment (Note v) - 103,908,42s - l 03,908,425

Prior year adjustment (Note v) -12,804,r23 -t2.804.t23
At 3l!r December 2017 12,907.037 2.388.2S0.796 49.026.696 - l I .020.457.848 -8.570.273.3r9

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3IST DECEMBER 20I7

(i) Prior year adjustment of Kshs.2,2 11,052 relates payment of audit fees to KENAO for period
201 5 which was under budgeted.

(ii) Prior year adjustment of Ksh.17,778,929 relates to receipts from ailing Institutions -Trust
Bank during the year.

(iii) Prior year adjustment of Ksh.44,297,562 relates to receipts from ailing Institutions -
Postbank Credit Ltd during the year.

(iv) Prior year adjustment of Ksh.692,944 relates to correction of overstated depreciation in year
2016.

(v) Prior year adjustment of Ksh.103,908,425 relates to payment of Union staff members' salary
arrears in 2018 forthreeyears and half i.e. from July20l3 to December20l6. Total salary
alrears paid in January 201 8 was Ksh.l44,168,530 for period July 2013 to June 2017 hence
the balance of Ksh 40,260,105 charged in the current year.

(vi) Prioryearadjustmentof Ksh.12,804,123 relatestopaymentof Union staff members'pension
paid in 201 8 for three years and half i.e. from July 2013 to December 2016. Current charge
to the financialperiod 2017 Kshs. 4,965,931, hence totalpension paid out Kshs. 17,770,054.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DBCEMBER 2017

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit/(Loss) for the year

Adjustments for:-
Depreciation

Rental Income

Dividend income

Gain/ (Loss) on Disposal of Property and Equipment

Appreciation/Diminution in value of quoted investments

Prior year adjustments

Operating profit/(loss) before working capital
changes

(lncrease)/ Decrease in Accounts Receivables &
Prepayments

(lncrease)/Decrease in stocks

Increase/(Decrease) in Accounts Payables & Accruals

Increase/(Decrease) Customer Savings and deposits

Increase/(Decrease) GoK Pension Reserve fund account

Net cash flows from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase/Sale of Property and Equipment

Write back on Depreciation

Gain/ (Loss) on Disposal of Property and Equipment

Change in fair Value for Bonds AFS

Rental income

Dividend Income

Net cash flows from investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from WSBI

Net cash flows from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and casfr equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the year (Note 42)

-1,394,867,006 -L,210202,861

336,945,458 -647,752,205

3,805,783 547,832

2017

Kshs
-1,364,952,385

113,228,671

-86,557,526

-431,600

-56,154,166

2016

Kshs
-1,287,021,979

127,445,528

-81,1 36,604

-242,769
267,100

30,485,862

250,299,693

956,437,922
-258,323,258

495,193,12?

1,955,415,176

-20,406,654

-105,701,408 572,794,415

-21,3 83,1 50

-692,944
0

- l 10,707,980

242,768

21,928,668
86,557,526

0

27,098,028
81,136,604

0

86,410,100 -2130,580

0 -17,663,442

-19,291,308

5,454,220,675

5,434,929,367

o -17,663,442

552,900,393

4,901,320,282

5,454220,675
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STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL AS AT 3IST DECEMBER
20t7

Net fees and commissions income 410,929,535 784,477,658 -373,548,123

Net trading income 516,923,760 937,092,596

Interest income

Interest expense

Net interest income

Fees and commissions lncome
Fees and commissions expense

Foreign exchange income
Other operating income

Operating income

Impairment loss on loans and
advances
Employee expenses
Board expenses
Operating expenses
Depreciation expenses
Amortisation cost- Intangible Assets
Amortisation cost- Treasury bonds.
Other expenses

Total Operating Costs

Profit before income tax

723,482,201 1,077,793,198

ACTUAL
TOTAL

Shs

673,949,630

-567,955,405

105,994,225

433,288,043
-22,358,509

84,9',79,563
121,578,878

BUDGET
TOTAL

Shs

752,604,938

-700,000,000

52,604,938

820,819,591
-36,341,923

80,500,000
160,210,602

VARIANCE
TOTAL

Shs

VARIANCE
TOTA
%

-78,655,308

132,044,595

53,389,287

-387,531,538
13,983,416

-320,158,836

4,479,563
-38,631,726

-354,310,999

-4
-3

-4

J

-l
-l

r0

6
2

-JJ

-28
J

13,000,000
1,192,722,658

1,3 13,695
411,07 6,442
94,601,599
18,627,072
22,122,908

334,970,222

2,088,434,586

-1,364,952,385

12,000,000
1,067,839,137

5,944,000
393,739, I 88
132,064,200
30,446,283
23,083,893

331,742,111

I ,996,858,81 I

-919,065,613

1,000,000
124,883,521

-4,630,315
17,337,254

-37,462,601
-l1,819,21I

-960,985
3,228,111

7

1

-82,454,203

453,923,243

Income tax expense
Profit for the period -1,364,952,385 -919,065,613 453,923,243

The notes set out on pages 30 to 65 form an integralpart of these financialstatements

-4

-4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER
2017

1. BASIS OF PREPARATION

a) Statement of Compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (lFRSs) and International Accounting Standards (lAS). The financial
statements were authorised for issue by the Management on 16ft January, 201 8.

The financial statements comprise of statement of comprehensive income, statement of
financial position, statement of changes in reserves, statement of cash flows, and notes.

b) Basis of Measurement
The financial statements have been prepared in compliance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) based on the historical cost convention. The bank has not
revalued any property.

c) Functional and Presentation Currency
These financial statements are presented in Kenya shillings (Kshs), which is the company's
functional currency.

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of primary
economic environment in which the entity operates i.e. Kenya shillings.

d) Use of Estimates and Judgements
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements,

estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, incomes and expenses.

The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to estimates
are recognized prospectively:

e) Assumptions and Estimation of Uncertainties

i) Going concern
The Bank operates with the intention of being in business in the next l2 months and in
the foreseeable future. The management runs the day to day activities by ensuring that
assets are realized and liabilities honoured in the normalcourse of business. However,
the Bank's future performance is dependent on restructuring and government support
in defraying the incurred losses from the year 2012 to 2017 amounting to Kshs.
(11,020,457,848) in accordance with KPOSB Act cap 4938 section l3 (1).

Note 20- Impairment loss on deposits, loans and advances

Note l3- Recognitions and measurement of contingencies: Key assumption about the
likelihood and magnitude of an outflow of resources

ii) Critical judgement in applying the entity's accounting policies
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including experience offuture events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THB YEAR ENDED 3IST DECEMBER 2017

In accessing the need for collective loss allowances, management considers factors
such as:

o Credit quality
o Portfolio size
o Concentrations
o Economic factors

Note 5- Depreciation of equipment and intangible assets. The Bank reviews the useful
life of its property and equipment and intangible assets at the end of each financial
period

2. SIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements have
been applied consistently over the years.

a) Revenue Recognition
Income is recognised on an accrual basis.

t) Interest

Interest income and expense are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income using
the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the financialasset or
liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset
or liability. The effective interest rate is established on initial recognition of the financial asset
and liability and is not revised subsequently.

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes all f-ees paid or received, transaction costs,
and discounts or premiums that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction
costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of
a financial asset or liability.
Interest income and expense presented in the statement of comprehensive income include:
o interest on financial assets and Iiabilities at amortised cost on an effective interest rate basis;
o interest on available-for-sale investment securities on an effective interest basis; and
o Interest income and expense on all trading assets and liabilities are considered to be

incidental to the bank's trading operations and are presented together with all other changes
in the fair value of trading assets and liabilities in net trading income.

ii) Fees and commission income
Fees and commission income and expense are recognised on an accrual basis when the service
has been provided. Fees and commission income that are integral to the effective interest rate
on a financialasset or liability are included in the measurement of the effective interest rate.
Other fees and commission income, including account servicing fees, are recognised as the
related services are performed.

b) Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies during the year are convefted into Kenya Shillings at rates
ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities at the reporting date which are
expressed in foreign currencies are translated into Kenya Shillings at rates ruling at that date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3IST DECEMBER
2017

The resulting differences from conversion and translation are dealt with in the statement of
comprehensive income in which they arise.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are

translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions if any. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign culrency are translated using the exchange

rates at the date when the fair value was determined if there is any.

c) Employee benefits
The Bank operates a defined contribution scheme whose funds are held in a separate trustee

administered and guaranteed scheme managed by an approved investment company. The

pension plan is funded by contributions from the employees and the Bank. The bank's
contributions are charged to profit or loss in the year to which they relate.

d) New standards, amendments and interpretations effective and adopted during the
year.

,) ClariJication of Acceptable Methods of Depreciotion and Amortisation
(Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38)

The amendments to IAS 38 Intangible Assets introduce a rebuttable presumption that the use

of revenue-based amortisation methods for intangible assets is inappropriate. The presumption

can be overcome only when revenue and the consumption of the economic benefits of the

intangible asset are highly correlated', or when the intangible asset is expressed as a measure

of revenue.
The amendments apply prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after I January 2016.

The adoption of these changes did not have a significant impact on the financial statements of
the Bank.

ii) Disclosure Initiotive (Amendments to IAS l)
The amendments provide additional guidance on the application of materiality and

aggregation when preparing financial statements. The amendment applies for annual periods

beginning on or after I January 2016 and early application is permitted. The adoption of these

changes does have a significant impact on the financial statements of the Bank.

iir) Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 7)

The amendments in Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 7) come with the objective that

entities shall provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes

in liabilities arising from financing activities.

The IASB defines liabilities arising from financing activities as liabilities "for which cash

flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the statement of cash flows as cash flows
from financing activities". It also stresses that the new disclosure requirements also relate to

changes jn financial assets if they meet the same definition. The amend-ments state that one

way to fritfil ttre new disclosure iequirement is to provide reconciliation between the opening

and closing balances in the statement of financial position for liabilities arising from financing
activities.
Finally, the amendments state that changes in liabilities arising from financing activities must

be disclosed separately from changes in other assets and liabilities. The amendments are

effective for annual periods beginning on or after I January,2017, with early application

permitted. Since the amendments are being issued less than one year before the effective date,

entities need not provide comparative information when they first apply the amendments.
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The Bank is assessing the potential impact on the financial statements resulting from the
application of IAS 7.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER
2017

iv) 1ffi,S 9: Finoncial Instruments (2014)
On 24 July 2014 the IASB issued the final IFRS 9 Financial Instruments Standard, which
replaces earlier versions of IAS 9.

This standard introduces changes in the measurement bases of the financial assets to amortised
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income or fair value through profit or loss. Even
though these measurement categories are similar to IAS 39, the criteria for classification into
these categories are significantly different.
In addition, the IFRS 9 impairment model has been changed from an "incurred loss" model
from IAS 39 to an "expected credit loss" model.

The standard is effective for annual period beginning on or after I January 2018 with
retrospective application, early adoption permitted. The Bank is assessing the financial impact
on the financial statements resulting from the application on Accounts receivable Note 34 and
Prepayments and other assets Note 35 an exposure of Kshs 2,728,388,820 and
2,46 1,600,1 62.00 respective ly.

v) IFR^S 16: Leases
On l3 January 2016 the IASB issued IFRS l6 Leases, completing the IASB's project to
improvethefinancial reportingof leases. IFRS l6replacesthepreviousleasesstandard, IAS
l7 Leases, and related interpretations.

IFRS l6 sets outthe principles forthe recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure
of leases for both parties to a contract, i.e. the customer ('lessee') and the supplier ('lessor').
The standard defines a lease as a contract that conveys to the customer ('lessee') the right to
use an asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

A company assesses whether a contract contains a lease on the basis of whether the customer
has the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time.The standard
eliminates the classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases for a lessee
and introduces a single lessee accounting model. AII leases are treated in a similar way to
finance leases. Applying that model significantly affects the accounting and presentation of
leases and consequently, the lessee is required to recognise:

a) Assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the
underlying asset is of low value. A company recognises the present value of the unavoidable
lease payments and shows them either as lease assets (right-of-use assets) or together with
propefty, plant and equipment. If lease payments are made over time, a company also
recognises a financial liability representing its obligation to make future lease payments.
b) Depreciation of lease assets and interest on lease liabilities in profit or loss over the lease
term;
c) Separate the total amount of cash paid into a principalportion (presented within financing
activities) and interest (typically presented within either operating or financing activities) in
the statement of cash flows.
IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in IAS 17-
Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and
toaccountforthosetwotypesof leasesdifferently.However,comparedtolAS 17, IFRS l6
requires a lessor to disclose additional information about how it manages the risks related to
its residual interest in assets subject to leases.
The standard does not require a company to recognise assets and liabilities for
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(a) Short-term leases (i.e. leases of l2 months or less) and;
(b) Leases of low-value asset.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3IST DECEMBER
2017

The new Standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after I January, 2019. Early
application is permitted insofaras the recently issued revenue Standard, IFRS l5 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers is also applied.
The adoption of these changes will affect the amounts and disclosures of the Bank's financial
statements. The Bank is assessing the potential impact on the financial statements resulting
from the application of IFRS 16.

3. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

a) Recognition
The Bank initially recognises loans, advances, deposits and debt securities on the date at which
they are originated.

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date at which the Bank commits
to purchase or sell the asset.

A financial asset or liability is initially measured at fair value plus (for an item not subsequently
measured at fair value through profit or loss) transaction costs that are directly attributable to its
acquisition or issue.

b) Classification
The Bank classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss; loans and receivables; held-to-maturity investments; and available-for-sale
financial assets. Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition.

0 Financial assets atfair volue through profit or loss
This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated
at fair value through profit or loss at inception. A financial asset is classified in this category
if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term or if so designated by
management.

ii) Loans and Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. They arise when the Bank provides money

directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the receivable. These include advances to staff,
Visa credit to customers and placements with other banks. Loans are initially measured at fair
value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

iii) Held-to-maturity

Held-to-maturily investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturities that the Bank's management has the positive intention and
ability to hold tb maturity. Were the Bank to sell other than an insignificant amount oflheld-
to-maturity assets, the entire category would be tainted and reclassified as available for sale.

These include Treasury Bills, Treasury Bonds and Government Stock.

iv) Available-for-sale
Available-for-sale investments are those intended to be held for an indefinite period of time,
which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates or exchange
rates. Purchases and sales of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held to
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maturity and available for sale are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Bank
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Loans are recognised when cash is advanced to the

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDBD 31ST DECEMBER
2017

borrowers. Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all
financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or
where the Bank has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets are carried at fair value through profit
or loss. Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets category are
included in the statement of comprehensive income in the year in which they arise. Gains and
losses arising from changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets are
recognised directly in equity, until the financial asset is derecognised or impaired at which
time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity should be recognised in
profit or loss. However, interest calculated using the effective interest method is recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income.

As per IAS 39, financial instruments are supposed to be classified as Held-to-maturity and
Available- for-sale. However, the Bank has classified all its financial instruments as Held-to-
maturity since the Bank has no intention of selling the instruments.

(v) Identi/ication and Measurement of Impairment of Financial Assets
At each statement of financial position date, the Bank assesses whether there is objective
evidence that financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss are impaired.
Financial assets are impaired when objective evidence demonstrates that a loss event has

occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event has an impact on the
future cash flows on the asset than can be estimated reliably.
The Bank considers evidence of impairment at both a specific asset and collective level. All
individually significant financial assets are assessed for specific impairment. All significant
assets found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment
that has been incurred but not yet identified. Assets that are not individually significant are
then collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together financial assets (carried at
amortised cost) with similar risk characteristics.
Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity securities) are impaired can include
default or delinquency by a borrower, restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms
that the Bank would otherwise not consider, indications that a borrower or issuer will enter
bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a security, or other observable data
relating to a group of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or
issuers in the group, or economic conditions that correlate with defaults in the group.

ln assessing collective impairment, the Bank uses statistical modelling of historical trends of
the.probability of default, timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for
management's judgement as to whether current economic and credit conditions are such that
the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical modelling. Default
rate, loss rates and the expected timing of future recoveries are regularly benchmarked against
actual outcomes to ensure that they remain appropriate.

Impairment losses on assets carried at amortised cost are measured as the difference between
the carrying amount of the financial assets and the present value of estimated cash flows
discounted at the assets' original effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in the statement
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of comprehensive income and reflected in an allowance account against loans and advances.

Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised through the unwinding of the

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER
2017

discount. When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the

impairment loss is reversed through the statement of comprehensive income.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale investment securities are recognised by transferring
the difference between the amortised acquisition cost and current fair value out of equity to the
statement of comprehensive income. When a subsequent event causes the amount of
impairment loss on an available-for-sale debt security to decrease, the impairment loss is

reversed through the statement of comprehensive income.
However, any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity
security is recognised directly in equity. Changes in impairment provisions attributable to time
value are reflected as a component of interest income.

(v0 Derecognition
The Bank derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the

financial asset expire, or when it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on

the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the financial asset are transferred. The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its
contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire.
The Bank enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its statement of
financial position but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the

transferred assets or a portion of them. If all or substantially all risks and rewards are retained,

then the transferred assets are not derecognised from the statement of financial position.

Transfers of assets with retention of all or substantially all risks and rewards include, for
example, securities lending and repurchase transactions.

vii) Impairment for Non-Financial Assets
The carrying amounts of the Bank's non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to

determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the

assets' recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying
amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. A cash-

generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely are

independent from other assets and groups.

Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. lmpairment losses

recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount

of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets

in the unit (group of units) on a pro-rata basis.

viii) Budget Accounting Policy.
The bank uses Zero-based budgeting (ZBB). All expenses must be justified for each new
period. The budgeting starts from a "zero base," and every function within an organization is

analysed for its needs and costs. Budgets are then built around what is needed for the upcoming
period. This allows top-level strategic goals to be implemented into the budgeting process by

tying theri to specific functional'areas of the organizatibn, where costs can be hrst grouped

and then measured against previous results and current expectations. At the end of every month

actual and budgeted amount is compared to obtain variances. The presentation of budget

information in Financial Statements is done as per International Public Sector Accounting
Standard (IPSAS) 24

4). FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(a) Principles
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Postbank faces various types of risks which arise from its day to day operations as a financial
institution. The Board of Directors and Management therefore devote a significant portion of
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST
DECEMBER 2OI7

their time to the management of these risks. The mainstay of effective risk management is the
identification of significant risks, the quantification of the Banks's risk exposure, actions to
limit risk and the constant monitoring of risk.

The overarching aim of risk management is to ensure that all risks assumed in the course of
the Bank's business are recognized early on and mitigated by effective risk management.
Successful risk management is recognized as a pre-condition for the sustained growth and
success of the Bank. Risk management and monitoring are implemented via the Bank's risk
management and risk control process and the organization structure corresponds to prudent
Risk Management Guidelines. In order to ensure continuous improvement of risk management
at all times the following key risk principles have been adopted and are applied;
o The Board of Directors assumes the ultimate responsibility forthe level of risks taken by

the Bank and is responsible to oversee the effective implementation of the risk strategies.

. The organizational risk structure and the functions, tasks and powers of the employees,
commiftees and departments involved in the risk processes are continuously being
reviewed to ensure clarity of their roles and responsibilities.

Risk issues are taken into consideration in all business decisions. Measures are in place to
develop risk-based performance measures and this is being supplemented by setting risk
limits at the overall Bank and divisional levels, as well as by enforcing consistent operating
limits for individual business aclivities.

a

Risk management is increasingly being linked to management processes such as strategic
planning, annual budgeting and performance measurement.

Identified risks are reported in a transparent and timely manner and in full to the responsible
senior management.

Appropriate and effective controls exist for all processes entailing risks.
All these principles are enshrined in the Bank's risk management policy. The section below
provides the various risks faced by the Bank and describes the methods used by
management to control risk. The most important types of financial risks to which the Bank
is exposed are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk mainly interest risk and operational
risk.

(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the current or prospective risk to earnings and capital arising from an obligor's
failure to meet the terms of any contract with the bank or if an obligor otherwise fails to perform
as agreed.

(i) Management.of Credit Risk
The Bank is subject to credit risk through its lending and investing activities. Considerable
resources, expertise and controls are devoted to managing it and comprehensive strategies,
policies and procedures have been developed to effectively manage this risk. The Bank's
primary exposure to credit risk arises through its advances to employee and Visa credit to
customers. Credit risk ratings are assigned to customers to enable the bank to establish the risk
and enable credit decisions to be undertaken within acceptable risk appetite threshold through
its credit policy. At the management level there, is a credit risk department staffed with highly
skilled personnel who ensure credit risk are identified and mitigated. Within this department

a

a
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there are debt collecting officers who follow up on bad loans.
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(ir) ll/rite-off Policy
The Bank writes off a loan / security balance (and any related allowances for impairment
losses) when management determines that the advances / securities are uncollectible. This
determination is reached after considering information such as the occurrence of significant
changes in the borrower financial position such that the borrower can no longer pay the

obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not be sufficient to pay back the entire

exposure.

(c) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the current or prospective risk to earnings and capital arising from the

institution's failure to meet its maturing obligations when they fall due without incurring
unacceptable losses.

The Bank's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always

have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed

conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Bank's reputation.

The Bank has access to a diverse funding base. Funds are raised mainly from deposits.

Exposure to liquidity Risk
The key measure used by the Bank for managing liquidity risk is the ratio of net liquid assets

to deposits from customers. For this purpose net liquid assets are considered as including cash

and cash equivalents and investment securities for which there is an active and liquid market

less any deposits from banks, other borrowings and commitments maturing within the next

month.
The board has approved a policy to effectively manage liquidity at all times to meet depositors

demand, and unexpected outflow. The investment undertakes statement of financial position

liquidity and scenario analysis as per the policy on bi-monthly basis.

The bank strives to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through

the use of liabilities with range maturities, in addition the bank holds a portfolio of liquid assets

as part of its liquidity risk management strategy.

(d) Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate, equity prices, foreign
exchange rates and credit spreads (not relating to changes in the obligor's / issuer's credit
standing) will affect the group's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.

The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures

within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return on risk.

(i) Management of market Risk

Overall responsibility for management of market risk rests with a management committee of
the Bank, tire Asiet and Liability Committee (ALCO). The risk ilepartment is responsibie for
the development of detailed market risk management policies (subject to review and approval

by ALCO) and for the day to day implementation of those policies. Regular monitoring of
Postbank's risk profile against risk appetite limits e.g. foreign exposure

and risk limits, liquidity and solvency ratios which are contained in the market

risk framework incorporating market and country risk policies approved by the board.

(ii) Exposure to Interest Rate Risk
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The principal risk to which financial assets and liabilities are exposed is the risk of loss from
fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair values of financial instrument because of a change

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR f,NDED 3IST DECEMBER
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in market interest rates. Interest rate risk is managed principally through monitoring interest
rate gaps.

(e) Operational Risk
The Operational risk is a risk of losses resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes,
people, and systems or from external events.
The Bank's objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial
losses and damage to the Bank's reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control
procedures that restrict initiative and creativity.
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address
operational risk is assigned to senior management within each business unit. The responsibility
is supported by the development of overall Bank standards for the management of operational
risks. Compliance with these standards is supported by a programme of periodic reviews
undertaken by internal audit. The results of internal audit reviews are discussed with the
management of the business unit to which they relate, with summaries submitted to the Board
Risk Committee and senior management of the Bank.
Risk measuremenl and control
Interest rate, credit, liquidity, operational risk and other risks are actively managed by
independent risk control groups to ensure compliance with the Bank's risk policy. The Bank's
risk exposure limits are assessed regularly to ensure their appropriateness given the Bank's
objectives and strategies and current market conditions.

(5) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
(a) INVESTMENT PROPERTY
The Bank has classified some of its Properties according to IAS 40 -lnvestment Properties.
The standard recognizes properties which are solely held for rental purposes or capital
appreciation in the long term or both. For mixed use property, those partly occupied by the
owner and partly rented out, the percentage of occupation determines its classification as per
the IAS 40.10. If the percentage is significant then it falls under Plant, Properties and
Equipment (PPE) but where insignificant it falls under Investment Properties.

Though the standard is silent on definition of significant, the assumption of materiality will
guide while determining the threshhold. Anything greater than llYo will greatly influence the
decision maker. In the case of the Bank, the percentage of usage for Karura Training centre,
Upper Hill properties and Dandora Plot is insignificant, hence classified under Investment
Properties contrary to owner occupation at Postbank House Nairobi @9%); Postbank Mombasa
(25%); Postbank Nakuru (50%); and Postbank Eldoret (100%) which is significant, and falls
under Plant Property and Equipment (PPE).

Equally the International Accounting Standard (IAS 16) - considers Plant, Properties and
Equipment (PPE) as tangible assets held for use in production or supply of goods or services,
for rentals to others, or for administrative purposes and are expected to be used for more than
one period. The standard also allows a choice of accounting model to use either cost model or
revaluation model. In our case we opted for revaluation model.
(b) REVALUATTON AND COST MODEL
The Bank has used the Revaluation and depreciating model for Land and Buildings while for
all other classes of assets, Cost and depreciating model has been applied as per IAS I 6.
(c) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND DBPRECIATION
Leasehold properties for which the lease has 99 years or more to run are stated at cost or
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valuation and are not depreciated. Other assets are stated and depreciated at cost.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis, at rates estimated to write off the assets over
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their expected useful lives.
The following depreciation rates are used

Category
Buildings
Show stands

Motor vehicles

Furniture and fittings
Electronic office equipment

Non-electronic offi ce equipment

Computer hardware

Computer software

Rate p.a.

2.s %

20.0%
25.0%
12.5 %

20.0%
12.5 %

20.0 %

20.0 %

(d) INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Software licence costs and computer software that is not an integral part of the related hardware
are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses. Costs that are directly attributable to the production of
identifiable computers software products controlled by the bank are recognised as intangible
assets. Amortisation is calculated using the straight line method to write down the cost of each

licence or item of software to its residual value over its estimated useful life using annual rate

of 20Yo.

(6) STOCKS
Stocks comprise of stationery and drugs in the staff clinic which are valued at cost.

(7) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the cash flow statement comprise cash and bank

balances net of bank overdraft, deposits in commercial banks and financial institutions and

Treasury bills, treasury and corporate bonds as at the balance sheet date.

(8) FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS
On initial recognition, all transactions are recorded in the functional currency (the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the bank operates), which is Kenya Shillings.
Foreign currency transactions during the year are converted into Kenya shilling equivalent at

rates ruling at the transaction date. Assets and liabilities at the statement of financial position

date which are expressed in foreign currency are translated into Kenya shillings at the rates

ruling at the transaction date. The resulting differences from conversion and translation are

dealt with in the profit and loss account in the year in which they arise.

(9) EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT
(a) POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
The bank operates a retirement benefits plan for its employees, the assets of which are held in

a separate trustee administered scheme managed by a Fund Manager. The contributions made

by the Bank both to the Defined Benefit and Defined Contribution retirement scheme and to

the Provident Fund are charged to the profit and loss account in the year ofcontribution.
From year 2011, the Bank and the employees also contribute to the National Social Security
Fund (NSSF), a national defined contribution scheme. Contributions are determined by local
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statute and the company's contributions are charged to the profit and loss account in the year
to which they relate. Before year 201l, the Bank and employees were not making any
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contribution to the National Social Security Fund (NSSF). This resulted to a penalty, hence a
liability to the Bank of Kshs. 297,490,025, payable in three years from August 2014. The
amount has since been fully paid as at 3 I st December 2017.

(b) SHORT TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
The estimated monetary liability for employees' accrued annual leave entitlement at the
balance sheet date is recognised as an employment cost accrual.

(10) PROVTSTON FOR DOUBTFUL DEBTS
Provision is made on debtors that are considered to be doubtful. Bad debts are written off
when all reasonable steps to recover them have been taken without success.

(rl) REVALUATTONRESERVE
The revaluation reserve relates to property and equipment. The reserve is non-distributable.
Revaluation reserves are made up of periodic adjustments arising from fair valuations of
Propefty and equipment. Movement in the revaluation reserve are shown in the statement of
changes in equity Kshs 2,388,250,796

(12) REVENUE RESERVE
This represents undistributed profits/accumulated losses from current and previous years
including prior year adjustments. The accumulated loss as at 31st December 2017 is Kshs -
11,020,457,849.

(13) CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Litigation is a common occulrence in the banking industry due to the nature of the business.
Although there may be no assurance, the Directors believe based on the information available
and advice from the legal experts that the claims will be defended successfully and therefore
no provision has been made in the financial statement. The significant claims are described
below:

(i) Adella Kavisa & 73 others -vs-PostBank: Kshs. 166,084,453/= pension claim from retirees
It is not expected to be finalized next year.

(ii) PostBank - vs - Simiyu Wasikel: The land in dispute involves Postbank and Simiyu Wasike
It is in Upper Hill. The value of the property was Kshs. 3 19,200,000 in the year 201 l.

(iii) Other staff suits against the Bank sums to Kshs 19,928,087.00
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(14) TNTERBST TNCOME

Interest on Treasury Bills/Bonds
Interest on Term Deposits

Interest on Staff Loans

Interest on Visa Balances

(15) TNTEREST EXPENSE

Interest on:-

Bidii Savings Account
Step Account
Pension Account
Premium Savings Account
Premium Plus Account
Fixed Deposit Account
Save As You Earn Account
Staff Salary Account
Salary Account
Postbank Junior Account
Pamoja Account
Bidii Junior Trustee Account
Smata Youth Save

Waridi Account

M-Chama Account

Mobile Savings Account
Akiba Account

2017
Kshs
622,718,851

3,482,652

44,664,770

3.083.357

673.949.630

2017

Kshs

207,069,667

15,374,354

97,364,077

235,063

231,211,152

1,951,218

5,091,946

1,233,880

5,1 1 2,1 85

83,424

1,7 46,619

155,267

3,799,970

7,055,1 50

409,093

24,215

39.125

567J55.405

2016
Kshs

554,273,675

2,953,142

110,972,806

4,39&566
672,598JE9

20t6
Kshs

211,578,174

14,887,493

70,807,037

69,549

236,862,994

1,959,934

9,406,518

l,33g,l49
4,899,417

6,668

1,585,224

157,544

3,922,745

5,123,765

132,139

13,544

37.650

562JSE 5A4
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(16) FEES & COMMISSIONS TNCOME

2017 2016

Inactivity Fees

Salary Crediting Fees

Premature withdrawal Fees

Withdrawal Fees

Visa Fees

Card Fees

Western Union - MTS Commission

Citibank Commission

Pension commission

Money Transfer Commission (Others)

ATM withdrawal Fees

Bills Commission-Water & Electricity
AAR Loan Commission

Encashment Fee

Miscellaneous Fees & Commission (others)

(17 )FEES AND COMMTSSTONS EXPENSE

Shared Costs Adjustments

Commission Expense-Money gram

Premium Paid Commission on Purchase of T/Bonds

Comm ission-lndependent Agent

Mobile banking Expenses

Commission paid on deposit mobilisation

(18) FORETGN EXCHANGE INCOME

Forex gain on WU-MTS Transactions/Forex sale

Forex gain on MoneyGram Transactions

Kshs

14,267,290

14,225,491

28,052,993

55,820,960

6,185,624

24,043,428

54,330,818

541,140

69,203,500

25,218,989

46,492,904

29,174,386
49,188,303

0

t5-942.217

413288.O4it

Kshs

74,764,358

15,437,631

26,532,786

46,090,955

6,167,413

59,716,930

50,070,658

1,209,457

69,475,590

3 1,818,887

48,497,684

36,031,838

36,341,171
2,103,909

7 -982.70t

5n2il,958

2017

Kshs
7,329,482
4,524,564

446,232

80,044

0

9,978,186

22J58.508

2016

Kshs

2,907,401

2,839, I 0 I

555,009

140,355

4,755,144

8,808,757

20.005J_er

2017

Kshs
65,975,184

19.004.379

84.979.563

2016

Kshs

51,669,786

25.005.772

76.675.558
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(19Xa) OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Rental Income

Dividend income

Interest on bank accounts

Tender fees

Development Levy

Appreciation/Diminution in value of quoted
investments

Gain/(Loss) on sale of Property &
equipment
Mobile Banking Fee

Capital Gain on Sale of Investments

Commission Income on Foreign Visa

Sundry income

Disclosure note

19.b Extra Ordinary Income
Receipt from Ailing Institutions

The Extra Ordinary Income is made up of the following:
Receipt from Ailing Institution - Trust Bank
Receipt from Ailing Institution - Postbank Credit Ltd
Total

19.c Extra Ordinary lncome

Service Charge Income

*Restated balance

2017

Kshs

86,557,526
23,940

740,884

243,200

309,000

2016

Kshs
81,136,604

52,155

13,658

30,300

431,600

0

9,031,992

8,831,448

415,250

14.994.038

121.578.878

2017
Kshs

- 267,100

-242,768
10,133,377

3,17 4,963

25.711.490

11a.742.674

62,076,491 10,975,743

17,778,929
44.297.562

2016
Kshs

9,889,533
r.086.210

62.076.491 10,975,743

2017
Kshs

17 ,7 68,7 5l

2016
Kshs

*16,938,272

(20) IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON DEPOSITS, LOANS AND ADVANCES
. 2017

Kshs

Customers deposit 5,416,667

Visa card debtors s,4i6,667
General Provisions-lncluding Staff loans 2.166.666

]jrcooJut

. 2016
Kshs

15,000,000

3,000,000

2.000.000

20J)00.o00
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(21) EMPLOYEE EXPENSES

Salaries and Wages

Pensions and Provident Fund contr
Medical expenses

Staff training
Other staff expenses

22) BOARD EXPENSES

Directors Honoraria
Directors Allowances
Directors Allowances Telephone

(23) OPERATTNGEXPENSES

2017

Kshs
787,776,065

93,519,776

55,720,405

9,165,292

246.541.t20
1,192,722,658

2017

Kshs

80,000

1,189,325
44.360

1.313.685

2017

Kshs

103,285,416

1 5,1 56,1 63

118,673,066

433,165

52,05 1,801

9,681,612

21,071,140

89,158,042

1,273,010

293,027

411,075442

20r6
Kshs

764,478,508

92,337,581

66,083,983
6,122,334

223.404.2s6

1.152.426.662

2016

Security expenses

Insurances

Office rent

Land rent and rates

Repairs and maintenance

Service charge

Agency fees - MTS
Licences

Grounds maintenance

Agency Expansion Project (WSBI)

(24) AMORTTSATTON FOR BONDS TRADTNG COST

Kshs
960,000

7,926,311
s0.700

8.937.011

2016
34,692,599

2016

Kshs

96,637,243

13,279,175

116,468,285

4,497,453

66,840,695

9,328,829

13,561,058

66,449,358

1,084,159

430.240

3E8*57tut95

2017
22,122,908Amortisation Cost

The amount of Kshs 22,122,908 relates to Treasury Bonds Premiums amortised monthly from
1.1.2017 to 31.12.2017
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(2s) oTHER EXPENSES

Travel and Subsistence allowances

Printing and stationery

Debt collection

Postage & telephone

Computer expenses

Motor Vehicle Expenses

Audit fees

Donations and subscriptions

Legal and professional fees

Electricity and water

Cleaning, Sanitation & Messengerial

Special Projects Launching

Newspapers and Periodicals

Transportation Costs

Procurement Costs

Excise Duty
Financial expenses

Selling & Marketing expenses

Operating Stationery

ATM processing charges

Hire of Motor Vehicles

ATM Card Cost

Research & Development

M iscel laneous expenses

(26) PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

2017

Kshs

19,544,241

7,551,323

100,680

92,500,906

10,944,629

3,450,194

4,500,000

I 8,0 I 2,5 82

31,471 ,096

2017

Kshs

1,3 13,685

4,500,000

I13,228,671

22,122,908

93,519,776

22,262,450

4,199,601

728,286

0

638,719

14,322,019

5,81 1,854

65,058,138

2,998,391

0

8,301 ,352

I 0,120,1 5 I

0

7 -090-752

334.970.222

2016

Kshs

14,848,844

6,802,667

634,160

88,602,874

8,309,892

3,1 10,451

3,791,667

13,294,062

31,463,833

2016
Kshs

8937,01I
3,791,667

127,445,528

34,692,599

92,337,581

52,155
(267,100\

16,568,029

1,659,100

566,752

20,000

1,046,060

16,827,585

8,945,1 5 8

96,570,029

3,41 5,013

1,447,020

8,366,457

17,406,318
354,000

3.417.654
353.407.767

5,362,858 5,940,142

The profit (loss) for the year is stated after charging:

Directors emoluments

Audit fees

Deprec iatio nl amortization i ntan gi b le as set ex pen se

Bonds amortisation cost

Pension scheme contribution

and after crediting: -

Dividends
Appreciation /Diminution in value of quoted investment

Notes

22

25

36a137

24

2t

l9a
33

23,940

43 1,600
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Note. The Audit fees is based on budgeted amount during the year.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER
2017

(27) EXPLANATION OF MATERTAL VARIANCf, ON THE STATEMENT OF COMPARISON
OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL FOR THE TWELVE MONTHS ENDING 3I DECEMBER 2017

INCOME

a) Fees and commissions
lncome

b) Other operating income

c) Operating income

Non achievement of target

DIRECT EXPENSES

d) Fees and commissions
expense

e) Interest expense

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE VARIANCE

ACTUAL

433,288,043

121,578,878

723,482,201

22,358,508

567,955,40s

BUDGET

820,819,581

160,210,602

1,077,793,198

VARIANCE

-387,53 1,538

-38,631,724

-354,310,997

VARIANCE

-47

-24

-JJ

Non achievement of target leading to low spending

RECURRENT EXPENSES

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE VARIANCE

0 Depreciation expenses

g) Amortisation cost-
Intangible Assets

h) Board expenses.

94,601,599 132,064,200 37,462,601 -28

18,627,072 30,446,293

1,3 13,695 5,944,000

Non achievement of target and lower purchase of assets than anticipated.

36,341,923

700,000,000

13,983,416

132,044,595

I1,819,210

4,630,315

-38

-19

-39

-78
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER
2017

(28) CASH AND CASH EQUMLENTS

Cash on Hand

Cash at Bank

2016

Kshs
331,554,969

240.20 7.370
571,762,339

The bulk of the cash at bank was held at Kenya Commercial Bank of Kenya and National
Bank of Kenya who are the Bank's main bankers.

(29) FUNDS ON CALL AND SHORT NOTICE

2016

Kshs

13,407,044

10,000,000

9,632,298

568.775
33.608.117

The Bank has placed some of its funds in call accounts with commercial banks as listed above

For the year under review, the funds were invested at the following interest rates;

2017

Kshs
320,262,698

306.044.767
626.307.465

2017

Kshs
14,066,155

10,900,000

10,004,193

609,504
35.579.852

Commercial Bank of Africa
Citibank
National Bank of Kenya

Kenya Commercial Bank of Kenya

BANK
Commercial Bank of Africa
Citibank
National Bank of Kenya
Kenya Commercial Bank(K)

RATE
7.00%
7.00%
7.00%
7.00%

(30) TNVESTMENT IN TREASURY BILLS & BONDS /OTHERS
2017 2016

Kshs Kshs

Treasury Bonds-Available For Sale 1,556,185,550 1,495,230,050

Kengen Infrastructure Bond 119,425,000 179,137,500

Jamii Bo.ra Bond 20,000,000 20,000,000

Funds under management (STANLIB) 0 25,740,169

Government of Kenya Treasury Bonds 3 .077 .431 .500 3 .128.7 42.500

4.773.042.050 4.848.850219
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ASSET BALANCE ON
0 r.0 r.2017

ADDITIONS IN
THE YEAR 2OI7

INCREASE/ DECREASE
REVALI.JATION

ADJT]STMENI-IN YEAR
2011

In Kshs In Kshs In Kshs

KENGEN Infrastructure Bond I 79. I 37,500

Jamii Bora
Bond

20,000,000

Funds Under Management
(STANLIB) 25,7 40,169

GOK Treasury Bonds-Held to
maturity 3,128,742,500

GOK Treasury Bonds-Available
for sales

1,495,230,050 694,385,082 38,212,926

Total 4,848,850,219 694,385,082
38,212,926

NOTES TO THB FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3IST DECEMBER 2017

Investment in Treasu Bills and Bonds /Others

30(b) Change in Fair Value for Bonds AFS

Note.
The effective weighted average rate of interest in respect to the above investments in year 2017 was:

KENGEN Infrastructure Bond

Jamii Bora Bond

Government of Kenya Treasury Bonds-HTM
Government of Kenya Treasury Bonds-AFS

(31) TNVESTMENTPROPERTY
2017
Kshs

896,790,225

-1250%
-13.30%
-12.65%

-L2.92o/o

2016
Kshs

896,790,225Investment property

Included in the investment Property is-
(i) UpperHillPropertywhosemarket.valueisKsh.3l9,200,000butcarriedatbookvalueof

Ksh27,390,225.Title to the Upper Hill property is in dispute with the current occupant of
the premises claiming allotees interest absolutely. The matter is in court and the Bank
expects a favourable outcome since it has a vesting right in the property and is holding it
with an intention of selling or reinvesting.
The property is a piece of land with a building taken over from Thabiti Finance Ltd in lieu
of deposits held for the Bank.

(ii) Karura Training & Sports Complex valued at Ksh 864,400,000 as per the latest valuation

BALANCf, ON OI.OI.2OI7 CAPITAL GAINS TRANSFER REVALUATION INCREASE

ln Kshs ln Kshs ln Kshs

27,O98,O29 -16,284,258 38,2L2,926
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report undertaken by Transcountry Valuers Limited in October 2013

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER
2017

(iii)Dandora Plot with a value of Ksh 5,000,000.

The reclassification of Dandora Plot and Karura Training centre from Property and Equipment to

Investment property has been done as per IAS 40.

(s2) sTocKs & DRUGS

Stationery
Drugs

(33) OTHER INVESTMENTS

Quoted investments (cost)

Unquoted investment

2017

Kshs
11,964,229

1.028.852

12.993.081

2016

Kshs
16,698,046

100.818

16.798.864

2017

Kshs
2,055,637

13.540.000

15,595,637

11.471.637

2016

Kshs
2,055,637

13.540"000

15,595,637

11.903.236

3.692,401

Less: Provision for diminution in market
value of quoted /unquoted investments

4.124.00t
Note.

(i) Quoted investments were valued at Kshs.2,770,000 (2016 Kshs.2,338,400) using the Nairobi
Securities Exchange market price at the close of the year realizing a gain of ksh43 1,600.

Quoted investments comprise of equity holdings in the following listed companies:

Company No. of Shares Market price Value
31.12.2017

Value
31.t2.2016

Kakuzi Ltd 6s00 329.00 2,138,500.00 1,826,500.00

Total Kenya Ltd 15000 23.50 352,500.00 267,000.00

Bamburi Cement Ltd l 550 r 80.00 279.000.00 244,900.00
2,770,000.00 2,338,400.00

(ii) Unquoted investment represents 80% of deposits in City Finance Bank (Jamii Bora Bank)

converted into shares following their.restructuring in year 2000.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31St DECEMBER
2017

(34) ACCOUNTS RECETVABLES

Notes

Postal Corporation of Kenya-Excess Deposits

GoK-(KP&rc) (i)
Commission Receivable from GoK
Prepaid GoK Pension - PCK Payroll

GoK Pension Cheques Receivable - PCK (ii)
PCK Overdrawn Claimable

Restitution (PCK)
Directors Loans

Staff loans

Staff debtors - Personal Development Loan

Interest Receivable -PDL
Rent Receivables

Staff Imprest

Trade Debtors (iii)

Provision for bad and doubtful debts

Trade Debtors

2017

Kshs

780,394,108

405,231,629

40,853,890

512,767,484

268,553,1s8

47,643,590

58,847,809

3,327,044

847,777,925

138,267,614

106,157,285

60,203,935

3,975,485

126,700,382

3,400,701,338

2016

Kshs
780,399,108

405,231,629

63,447,990

456,675,801

268,553, I 58

50,430,637

56,911,716

3,327,044

923,995,293

150,876,889

106,157,285

50,618,767

1,200,860

219,927,482

3,537,753,659

-677,623,725 -664,623,725

2J23M1$E 2,8fi,129,9i4

(i) The Kshs.405,231,629 relates to amount owing from the defunct KP&TC and has been
outstanding since year 2005. The Government of Kenya has since given assurance of
settlement of the amount, in effect through PCK.

(ii) The amount of Kshs.268,553,158 relates to amount owed to Postbank by PCK in respect
to pension's cheques and warrants handled by PCK on an agency agreement. This amount
has been outstanding since year 2007 and the two organizations have made commitments
to offset these amounts in the next financial year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3IST DECEMBER 2OI7
AGEING ANALYSIS RECIEVABTES

AGEING ANATYS!S RECIEVABTES

20L7 TOTAT 0 to 30 Days 31 to 60 Davs 61 to 90 Davs 91 and over Davs

PCK EXCESS DEPOSITS 780,394,108 780,394.108

KPTC - EXCESS DEPOSITS 405,237,629 405,237,629

PCK PREPAID GOK PENSION 5t2,767,484 (7,883,9721 8,937,684 8,98L,577 502,732,195

PCK OVERDRAWN CLAIMABLE 47.643,390 (107,44s1 47,751,035

STAFF DEBTORS PDL L38,267,674 Lt3,t70,569 25,O97,04s

INTERST RECEIVABLE PDL 706,L57,28s (8,609,4ss) 4.2L6.2L2 ,34.028.9741 L44,579.502

DIRECTOR LOAN 3,327,044 3.327,044

STAFF LOANS 847,777,925 749,96t,279 97,816,646

STAFF IMPREST 3,975,485 73627 (1s0,000) .2,623,6231 5,735,480

COMMISSION RECEIVANBTE .GOK 40,853,890 5,688.000 5,6L2,400 5,601,900 23,951,s90

RESTITUTION -PCK 58.847,809 28,500 1,000 58,818,309

RENT RECEIVABLE 60,203,935 20,949,88s (2.3s7,3s3) 68,373 41,543,030

GOK PENSION CHEQUES

RECEIVABLE 258,5s3,158 268,553,158

TRADE DEBTORS 726,700,382 L76,84r,318 25,843,086 L7,832,791 (93,816,814)

TOTAT RECEIVABTES 3,400,701,338 1,050,131,251 42,L30,529 14,274,4001 2,3L2,7t3,958

PROVISION FOR BAD DEBTS (677,623,72s1 (2,000,000) (1,000.000) (674,623,7251

NET RECEIVABLES 2,723,O77,613 1,048,131,251 41,L30,529 (4,274,4OO1 1,638,090,233

2016 TOTAL 0 to 30 Days 31 to 60 Days 61 to 90 Days 91 and over Days

PCK EXCESS DEPOSITS 780,399,108 780,399,108

KPTC - EXCESS DEPOSITS 405,23t,629 405.23L,629

PCK PREPAID GOK PENSION 456,675,801 347.L39.Ot7 (27.823.8231 8.904.3t2 t28,4s6,296

PCK OVERDRAWN CLAIMABLE 50,430,636 9,703 40 50.420.893

STAFF DEBTORS PDL 150,876,889 (s,806,22s) ( 181,000) (188.973) 157.053.087

INTERST RECEIVABLE PDL LO6,157,245 4.548.617.80 4.453.460.O4 4.506,833.39 92,648,373.82

DIRECTOR LOAN 3,327,O44 3,327,O44

STAFF LOANS 923,995,293 843,904,237 80,087,056

STAFF IMPREST 1,200,860 (1,803,37s) 3.OO4.235

COMMISSION RECEIVANBLE - GOK 63,447,990 6.110.800 5.733.600 5,733.600 45,869,990

RESTITUTION -PCK 56,9tL,7L6 56.97L.7L6

RENT RECEIVABLE 50,618,766 8,255,413 (8.336.4s3) (12.197.84t1 62.897,647

GOK PENSION CHEQUES

RECEIVABLE 258,s53,158 268.553.158

TRADE DEBTORS 2L9,927,482 6,616,559 (4.848.488) 11.801.598 206.357.813

TOTAT RECEIVABLES 3,537,753,659 r,208,969,044 (30,993,001) 18,559,570 t,275.460,r2L

PROVISION FOR BAD DEBTS (654.623.72s1 ( 1.666.667) ( 1.665.667) ( 1.666.667) rc59,523.72s1
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER
2017

(35) PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS

Note
2017

Kshs

83,608,741

47,738,766

417,007,051

1,078,1 81,457

307,015,011

917.928.138
2,851,479,164

2016

Kshs
95,510,898

41,025,070

479,083,542

1,277 ,890,113
329,137,919

877.801.249

3,100,448,791

Accrued interest on Treasury Bonds

Discount on Treasury Bonds

Fixed deposits in ailing financial institutions
TransitorialAccounts - Postbank (i)
Premium on Treasury Bonds (Prepaid)

Other Assets and Prepayments

Provision for bad and doubtful debts:

Amounts due from subsidiary and deposits -417.007.0s1 -479.083.542

2.434.472.113 2.621.365.250

(i) The amount of Kshs. 1,078,1 8l ,457 under Transitorial accounts relates to balances held in accounts
used by the Bank to process internal payments. Therefore, the balance is not a realisable asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3IST DECEMBER 2017

36. (c) LAND AND BUILDINGS

COST OR VALUATION

Long-term leasehold

Short-term leasehold

Buildings
Kshs

977,750,000

75"800"000

1.053.550.000

2017
Total
Kshs

1,709,750,000

204.800.000

1.914.550.000

20r(
Tota
Kshr

1,709,750,00(

204.800.00(

1.914.550.00(

Land
Kshs

732,000,000

122,500,000

Show Stand
Kshs

6.500.000

6"500.000854"500.000

Included in short-term leasehold land and buildings is a property purchased in Mombasa. It was

valued at Kshs.l98.30 million subject to extension of lease period by another 45 years from the

current l0 years. Initiative towards extension of the lease is in progress.

The figures used in the fixed assets schedule relate to 2013 valuation report carried out by Trans

country Valuers Limited and approved by the Board in October 2013.

3T.INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2017

Kshs

Cost
At 1 January

Additions
At 3l December

Amortisation
At 1 January

Amortization for the year

At 31 December

Carrying Amount
At 3l December

575,214,934

575,214,934

66,145.531

The intangible assets are in respect of Internet and mobile banking software

490,442,331

18,627,072

509,069,403

2016

Kshs

514,034,535

6l,l 80,400

575,214,935

472,334,928

18,107,403

490,442,331

84.772.604
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2OI7

(38) CUSTOMERS' SAVINGS AND DEPOSIT ACCOUNTS

Bidii Savings Account
Junior Trust Account

STEP Account
Pension accounts (BSG)

Premium Savings Scheme

Premium Plus Account
Fixed Deposit Account
Save-As-You-Earn

Staff Salary Account
Salary Account
Postbank Junior Account
Corporate Clients

Smata Youth Save Account
Pamoja Chama Account
Mzalendo Account
Waridi Account
Independent Agent Accounts

M-chama Savings Account
M-sawa Savings Account
Akiba Saving Account

2017

Kshs

8,422,775,102
0

757,813,023

3,792,199,582
(21,862)

3,5 88,810,3 77

75,065,1 85

763,892,792

67,993,050

247,692,300

15,348,381

432,712,820

233,821,809

81,642,950
151,817

382,068,647

10,411,354

24,973,094

1,742,512

2,009,852

r8J01J0ez75

2016
Kshs

8,217,019,123

9,937,631

715,707,653

3,197,666,008

6,865,356

3,658,036,444

83,833,838

717 ,151,012
75,731,287

230,136,497

7,687,403

432,018,719

212,83t,033
71,812,219

107,897

276,787,964

21,447 ,577' 
6,857,357

1,207,100

1,822,735

u.944,664,853
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3IST DECEMBER 2017

(39) ACCOUNTS PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
Notes 2017

Kshs

59,374,467

534,372,812

462,078,751

170,953,266

904,080,077

370,493,868

0

529,728,633

3"031.081.874

(i) PCK Services rendered- GOK Pension/others refers to amount payable to Postal

Corporation of Kenya for services offered to our pensioners/regular customers for
normal banking services.

(ii) PCK Encashed warrant payable refers to amount claimable by Postal Corporation of Kenya
on disbursement of pension to pensioners.

The amount of Kshs.462 ,078,7 5l which has been outstanding since year 2007 will be settled

along with expected amounts from PCK .

(iii) PCK -GoK Warrant is the un-accounted amount to pensioners account held by PCK. The
amount of Kshs.170,953,266 which has been outstanding since year 2007 will be settled

along with expected amounts from PCK.

(iv) GoK Pension Payroll is the un-applied amount to pensioners account held by PCK.

AGEING ANALYSIS OF ACCOUNTS PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

9l to 120

39,010,136

534,114,476

462,078,751

170,953,266

937,041,587

190,764,697

891,190,899

3.225.153,812

Trade creditors

PCK Services rendered- GoK Pension/others

PCK Encashed Warrants Payable

PCK- Pension Warrants

GoK Pension Payroll

Accrued Expenses

NSSF Liability
Other creditors

(i)
( ii)
(iii)
(iv)

20r6
Kshs

42,536,218

533,056,749

462,078,751

170,953,266

848,668,1 53

194,371,584

52,060,754

477,056,706

2.780.782,181

0to30 3l to 60 6l to 902017 TOTALS

s9,374,467 33,521,834 -13,157,503frade creditors

534,372,812 258,336PCK Services rendered- GoK
Pension/others (i)

462,078,751PCK Encashed Warrants
Pavable (ii)

170,953,266PCK- Pension Warrants (iii)

-7,993,972904,080,078 -24,685,837 -39t,7003oK Pension Payroll (iv)

154,905,337 5,290,880\ccrued Expenses 370,493,868 19,532,954

-2,800,151529,728,632 -13,870,814 -344,791,302)ther creditors

-1s6.755.831 -18.292.410TOTALS 3,031.081.874 -t9.023"697
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3IST DECEMBER 2017

(40) GOK PENSTON RESERVE FUND

These are receipts from the Government of Kenya for payment of pension to senior citizen. The
arrangement is that the Bank Pays pensioners on due date.

ln year 2017 GoK owed the Bank Kshs74,381,227 being disbursement in excess of funds received
The status changed to payable in 201 6 where bank owed GoK.Ksh. 183,942,042 being unpaid fund

Amount

Bank and cash balances

Deposits in banks and Financial Institutions
Treasury Bills and Bonds

(iii) Loans to staff
Welfare loans

Personal development Loan

2017

Kshs
(74.381,227\

Kshs

847,777,925

138-267.614

986.045.539

2016

Kshs
183.942.031

(41) CAPITAL GRANTS
Capital grants were given to the Bank to support the following projects;

2017

Kshs
Western Union Product 2,013,211
Bidii Product 3,706,728
Visa EMV Project 229,458
Smata, Mchama & Agency Expansion Projects 6.957.640

12"907,037

(42) CASH AND CASH EQUTVALENTS
2017

Kshs
626,307,465

35,579,852

4.773.042.050

5.434.929,367

(ii) Key management remuneration

Salaries and wages

Kshs

7,574,039

(43) RELATED PARTY TRANSACTTONS
The Banks main related parties are the Board members, key management personnel and staff. The
following transactions were carried out with related parties.

2017 2016
(i) Directors remuneration Kshs Kshs

Directors Honoraria 80,000 960,000
Directors Allowances 1.233.685 7.926.311

1.313.685 8.886.311

2016

Kshs
2,013,211

3,706,728

229,458

6.957.640

12,907,037

2016

Kshs
571,762,339

33,608,1 l7
4.848.850.2 r 9

5,454,220.675

Kshs

8J09,063

Kshs
923,99s,293

r 50.876.889

1.074.872.182
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L

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR TIIE YEAR ENDED 31ST

DECEMBER 2017

Interest income on these loans was Kshs 44,664,770 (2016 - 110,972,806). The efffective interest

rate for welfare loans is 5% while for personal development loan is l4Yo. Staffmortgages and car

loans are secured by charging the related properly to the Bank.

(iv) Loans to Directors
No loan was issued to directors in the year under review. However, outstanding loan balance of

Kshs 3,327,044 relates to Ioans advanced to former directors.

i

I
I

l
l

l

I
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NOTES TO THT', FINAI\ICIAL STATEMENTS FOR TIIE YEAR ENDED 3IST DECEMBER 2017

(45) CONSOLDATTON

Consolidated Accounts are not prepared as the Bank's wholly owned subsidiary, Postbank Credit Limited,

is under liquidation.

(46) TAXATION

Kenya Post Office Savings Bank is exempt from Corporation Tax under Income Tax Act Cap 470 of the

laws of Kenya.

(47) COMPARATTVES

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to reporting under IFRS.

(4E) EMPLOYEES

The average number of employees during the year was 720 (2015-763).

(49) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There have been no events subsequent to the financial year end with significant impact on the financial

statements for the year ended December 31,2017

(50) NETWORK OF POSTBANK BRANCTTES

The total number of branches during the year was 99.
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NBTWORK OF POSTBANK BRANCHES

HEAD OI.'FICE
Postbank House
Banda Street
P.O. Box 3031I - 00100
Tel: (020) 2229551-6 Ext. 155 Fax 341557
NAIROBI

NAIROBI NORTH REGION

Erstleigh Branch:
P.O. Box 303 l3 - 00100
Tel: (020) 6761 892 Fu< 6761892
NAIROBI

Kikuyu Branch:
P.O. Box 3031 I - 00100
Tel: (066) 31630 Fax 31630
KIKI-IYT]

Ruiru Brench:
P.O. Box 190
Tel: (067) 54320 F u< 55tAl
RI.IIRU

Karuri Branch
P.O. Box 3031 I - 00100
I'el: (066) 51683 Fax 51685
NAIROBI

I(ARIOBANGI
P.O. Box 30313 - 00100
Tel: (020) 22295514 341557

NAIROBI SOI.ITH REGION

Afya Centre Branch:
Tom Mboya Street
P.O. Box 3031I - 00lm
T'el: (020)2 229551 4 Ext 322. 340-2. 330-I
n-AIROBI

Karen Branch:
P.O. Box 30313 - 00100
Tel. (020) 884547 Fax 884548
NAIROBI

Viwandani Sub Branch:
P.O. Box 3031 I - 00100
Tel: (020)2229551{ Fax 553356
NAIROBI

Wote - Mekueni Brench:
P.O. Box 9zl4
Tel: (M4) 33371. Fax 33388
MAKUENI
P.O. Box 9zl4

Emali
P.O. Box 30313-00100
Tel: (020) 2445490
NAIROBI

Garissa Branch:
P.O. Box 745
Tel: (M6) 2169 Fax 3l%
GARISSA

Limuru Branch:
P.O. Ilox 170
Tel: (066) 71293 Fu<72278
I,IMIIRTI

Uthiru Branch:
P.O. tlox 30313 - 00100
l'el: (020) 63 1927 Fax 631927
NAIROBI

Matuu Branch
P. O. Box 3031 I - 00100
]'el: (067) 4355282 Fax 4355283
NAIROBI

Cannon llouse Branch:
Parliament Road
P.O. Box 3031 I - 00100
'fel: (020)2229551{ Ext 239,319
NAIROBI

Kitui Branch:
P.O. Box 668
T el: (M4) 22993 F ax 23O46
KITtII

Kangundo Branch:
P.O. Box 3031I
Tel: (044) 621 I 50, Fax 62 I 148
KANGI.INDO

Ngong Branch:
P.O. Box 3031 I - 00100
Tcl: (M5) 41047 Far 41048
NAIROBI

Mlolongo
P. O. Box 30313 -0100
'l'el: (M5)2445491
NAIROBI

Githurai Branch:
P.O. Box 3031 l- 00100
Tel: (020) 8l 1032 Fax 8l 1032
NAIROBI

Mwingi Brrnch:
P.O. Box 510
Tcl: (M4) 22308 Fa<22308
N{WINGI

Westland Branch:
P.O. Box 30313- 00100
Tel: (020) 4440581. 4450965
NAIROBI

Uchumi Ngong Rmd Branch
P.O. Box 3031I - 00100
Tel: (020)2229551-6
NAIROBI

Kiambu Branch:
P.O. Ilox 145
Tcl: (066) 22913 Fu<22914
KIAMBI.]

Ngara Branch:
P.O Box 30313 - 00100
Tel: (020) 3744837 Fw<37t.r'.837

NATROBI

Thika Branch:
P.O. Box l8l9
T'el: (067) 3 I 193 Fax 30076
THIKA

Customer Service Centre
P.O. Box 3031 I - 00100
Tel: (020) 222955 l -6 Fax 2 I 0593
NAIROBI

Enterprise Road Branch:
P.O. Box 3031 I - 00100
Tel (020) 222955 I { Exl 270
NAIROBI

Kitengela Branch:
P.O. Box 3031 I - 00100
Tel: (M5) 22526 Fax 2251 8
NAIROBI

Kajiado
P.O. Box 30313-00100
Tel: (020) 2455 105
NAIROBI

Ongata Rongai Branch
P.O. Box 3031I - 00100
Tel: (M5) 24178 Fa:r24179
NAIROBI

Kewagl'are Branch
P. O. Box 303 13 - 0 100
Tel: (045) 2445491
NAIROBI

Kibwezi Branch
P.O. Box 3031 I - 001 00
l'el: (M4) 3500422 F u< 350M32
NAIROBI
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NETWORK OF POSTBANK BRANCHES (continued)

MT. KENYA REGION

Chuka Branch:
P.O. Box 616
Tel: (064) 63M43 Fax 630064
CIITlKA

Meru Brench:
P.O. Box 3270
Tel: (064) 30381 Fax 32573
MERI,l

Waruguru Branch
P.O. Box 1245

Tel: (060) 48236 Fax 48081
EMBT]

COAST REGION

Chaani Branch:
P.O. Box 90563
Tel: (04 I ) 3434077 Fu< 3433485
MOMBASA

Moi Avenue, Mombasr, Branch:
P.O. Box 90563
Tel: (04 I ) 2230969, F u< 223(D45
MOMBASA

Vd Branch:
P.O. Box 452
Tel: (M3) 5352228 Tel: (043) 30253
Fax 30253
vor

Wetemu
P. O. Box 90563
Tel: (Ml) 2001l5
MOMBASA

RIFT VALLEY REGION

Gilgil Brench:
P.O. Box 30313
Tel: (050) 4002 I 43, F u< 4tJ02l tA
GIITGIL

I&poabct Branch:
P.O. Box 800
Tel: (053) 52535 F u< 62497
KAPSABET

Naivasha Branch
P.O. Box 675
Tel: (050) 2021335 Fu<2020200
NAIV,{SHA

Maralal Branch
P.O. Box
Maralal

llmbu Branch:
P.O. Box 1245

Tel: (068) 307 40 F u< 30727
EMBTI

Murang'a Sub- Branch:
P.O. Box 122

Tcl: (060) 31083 Irax 31038
MTIRANG'A

Maua Branch
P.O. Box 767
ltl:(064)21150
MAUA

Likoni Branch:
I'>.O. Box 90563
Tel: (Ml ) 245 I 070 Fu< 2451017
MOMBASA

Mtwapa Branch:
P.0. Box 90563
]'el: (041) 5486939 Far 5486470
MOMBA*SA

Savani House, Mombasa, Branch:
Digo Road
P.O. Box 90563
Tel (Ml)231M24
Fu<2223771
MOMBASA

Eldoret Branch:
P.O. Box 2270
Tel: (053) 2062295 Fax 2063025
ELDORf,'I'

Kitele Branch:
P.O. Box 821
Tel: (054) 30394 Fu3l297
KITALE

Nrkuru Branch:
P.O. Box 4199
Tel: (05 I ) 22 I 57 l0 Fax 22 I 1400

NAKI-IRI.]

Kapenguria
P.O. Box 614
Kapenguria

Karatina Branch:
P.O. Box 246
Tel: (061) 72537 Fax72977
NYERI

Nanyuki Branch:
P.O. Box 416
-Iel: (062) 32210 Fax 32820
NANYI-IKI

lsiolo Branch
P.O. Box 696
Tel: (064) 52355
ISIOLO

Kilifi Branch:
P.O. Box 90563
Tel: (M I ) 52239 F ax 522399
]VIOMBASA

Kisauni Branch:
P.O. Box 90563
Tel: (Ml) 474000 Fut474333
MOMBASA

Kerugoya Branch:
P.O. Box 1020
Tel: (060) 21893 Fax 21833
KERI,IGOYA

Nycri Branch:
P.O. Box 2216

Tel: (061 ) 2034348 Fax 2032 I 89
NYERI

Marsabit Branch
1'el:0775 475925
IlIARSABIT

Malindi Branch:
P.O. Box 5196
Tel: (042) 30599 Fax 20512
N'ALINDI

Mariakani Branch:
P.O. Box 90563
Tel: (041) 33425, Fax 33430
MOMBASA

Llkunda Branch:
P.O. Box 90563
Tel: (040) 3203248
Fax3203248
MOMBASA

Kabernet Branch:
P.O. Box,l42
Tel: (053) 22354 Fax 2l 130

KABARNET

Molo Branch:
P.O. Box 4199
Tel: (051) 721561 Fu<721@7
MOLO

Tsita'I'aveta
P.O. Box 90563
Tel: (040) 3203248
Far: (043) 5352124
MOMBASA

Nyahururu Branch
P.O. Box 342
Tel: (065) 3225 I Fax 32857
NYAHTIRTJRIl

Ngrok Branch:
P.O Box 634
Tel: (050) 22030 liu<2?2425
NAROK

Nandi Hills Branch:
P.O. Box 321
Tel: (053) 6431 46 F ax 643 I 46
NANDI }IILI,S

lndwar
P.O. Box
[,odwar

Iten Branch
P.O. Box
Iten

Eldamr Ravine Branch
P.O. Box
Eldrma Ravine
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NETWORK OF POSTBAI{K BRANCHES (continued)

WESTERNREGION

I

1l
1lll

l

Bungomr Brrnc[:
P.O. Bor(9,14
Tel: (055) 30418 Fax 30318
BTJNGOMA

Kicii Bnnch:
P.O. Bol( 7,m
TcL (058) 30800 Fax 30341
KISII

Sunr - Migori Brrnch:
P.O. Bolr 1059
Tcl: (059) 20857 For 20034
nIIGORI

tGroltr
P.O. Bor( 138
Tet (058) 520037 For 520037
KEROI(A

BondoBrmch
P.O. Bor( 183
BOI\DO

Brlsir Bnnch:
P.O. Bor( 183
T el: (05 5) 2227 8 F a< 221 57
BUSIA

Kisumu Bnnch:
P.O. Bor( 183
Tel: (057) 2023955 Far 2021358
KISUMU

Luandr Brrnch:
P.O. Bol( 859
Te[ (057) 351230 For 351232
LUAIiIIIA

Booet Bnnch:
P.O. Bo( 778
T el: (05 l) ?.24:39 F a< 224t+0

LTTEIN

Kchrnchr Bnnch
P.O. Bo,(207
Kchenchr

Home Bry Bnnch:
P.O. Box203
Tel: (054) 22388 Fax 21466
HOMABAY

Webuye Branch:
P.O. Bo( l0l4
Tel: (055) 41027 Fcor 4102,5
WEBTIYE

lGricho Bnnch:
P.O. Bo,( l03l
Tel (052) 30378 Far 321 15

KERICHO

Nyrmin Bnrch
PO Box 364
llyemin

I(rlomcgr Bnnch:
P.O. Bo('444
Tel: (056) 30630 Fax 31069
KAXAMEGA

SrrcAwerdo
P. O. Box 183
Tel: (059) 43417 Fut 43417
AWENDO

Mbitr Brench
P.O. Bo(
MBITA

Oyrgis Bnncb
P.OBox 1986
Oyudr

MumiesBrrncb: SiryeBranch:
P.O. Box 523 P.O. Box203
Tet (056) 641410 Fax 641233 Tel: (057) 321213 For 321213
MUMIAS SIAYA

-l

I

I

I
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